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Sears Travel offers
customers three ways to
shop and book travel:
at any of its 110 travel
offices, on-line at
www.searstravel.ca 
or by phone at 
1-866-FLY-SEARS.

Over 2,230 pick-up
locations support
Canada’s most extensive
general merchandise
catalogue and put 
93 percent of Canadians
within a 10-minute drive
of a Sears location.

Sears has the most extensive multi-channel network of any retailer in Canada



Canada's most popular
general merchandise
retail website,
www.sears.ca, received
almost 33 million visits
in 2003, an increase of
22% over the previous
year.Sears sells more

furniture and major
appliances than any
other retailer in
Canada and showcases
them throughout its
47 Sears Home stores.  

Sears 122 full-line
stores offer over 
17 million square feet
of floor space featuring
nationally recognized
private brands such as
Kenmore, Craftsman,
Jessica and Nevada.

Sears HomeCentral
serves customers 
coast to coast through
its 13 in-store show-
rooms, 47 installation
offices and 84 service
repair locations.



For the 53 week period ended January 3, 2004 
and the 52 week period ended December 28, 2002 2003 2002
Results for the year (in millions)
Total revenues 1 $ 6,223 $ 6,536
Interest expense 60 60
Earnings before unusual items and income taxes 241 219
Unusual items gain (loss) (5) (189)
Income tax expense (recovery) 101 (22)
Net earnings 135 52
Year end position (in millions)
Inventories $ 801 $ 754
Working capital 1,087 1,064
Total assets 4,066 4,061
Shareholders’ equity 1,811 1,647
Per share of capital stock (in dollars)
Net earnings $ 1.26 $ 0.49
Dividends declared 0.24 0.24
Shareholders’ equity 16.96 15.42
1 The 2002 balance sheet has been restated to conform to the 2003 financial statement presentation.

Financial Highlights
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Letter to Our Shareholders
A message from Mark A. Cohen, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Since 1953, Sears Canada has provided Canadians
with quality merchandise and exceptional service
coast to coast.Today, over 93 percent of Canadians
live within a 10-minute drive of a Sears full-line
store, Sears Home store, Dealer store, Outlet store,
Floor Covering Centre, or Catalogue agent. As well,
www.sears.ca has become a shopping channel of
choice with almost 33 million visits last year, a 
22 percent increase over 2002. We are Canada’s 
most popular general merchandise retail website.

Sears Canada’s 48,000 associates serve Canadian
households with an unmatched array of products 
and services delivered through a unique range of
retail channels.
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Last year was a challenging year for our Company.
While pleased with our performance relative to
some of our peers in the industry, we were dis-
appointed with our results.

Total revenues for the year decreased 4.8 percent
to $6.2 billion compared to $6.5 billion in 2002.
On a positive note, sales improved markedly in 
the second half of the year over first-half trends,
and gross margins improved as did expense
performance relative to our plan and the prior
year.The Company continued to exhibit disciplined
management of its inventory in all channels 

throughout the year. Net earnings before non-
comparable items were $141 million which 
was a 1.6 percent improvement over 2002.

While our financial performance presents
opportunities for improvement in both top and
bottom-line results in 2004, our achievements 
in 2003 were accomplished in an unusually
volatile national and international environment.
Our customers contended with the distraction 
of war in Iraq, SARS, a winter that never 
seemed to end, forest fires in one end of the
country and Hurricane Juan in the other.

   



In addition, a blackout in Ontario affected
operations in almost half of our stores for a full
week in August.The hard work and dedication of
our associates during these events, and, through-
out the year, demonstrate the commitment to
excellence found throughout our Company.

One of the major developments in 2003 was 
a further shift to value by our traditional mid-
market customer.The Company’s three-pronged
value strategy – “Sears More Value”, “Sears
Essentials”, and “Sears on Sale” – initiated 
in 2002 and fully launched in stores, catalogue 

and on the internet during 2003, proved perfectly
timed for this emerging consumer trend.

“Sears More Value” represents better quality 
key items in all major categories of merchandise
priced to provide great value always. “Sears
Essentials” are a broad array of basic merchan-
dise representing great value day in and day out.
Both programs are exceptionally well priced and
are never put on sale. “Sears On Sale” show-
cases merchandise with a periodic savings that 
is structured to be attractive to customers, while
profitable to Sears even when on sale.

Sears new full-line store design,

developed from extensive

consumer research, features 

an uncluttered, easy-to-shop

experience.
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Craftsman, a leading brand for lawn,

garden and power tools, is the 

#1 brand for electric mitre saws.

In an independent survey by NFO CFgroup,
Sears ranked higher than any other company for
good quality products and services. Our ranking 
on value was also very strong.This survey, along 
with other consumer studies we have, underscores
our differentiated position in the market. Further,
it reinforces our view that our Value Strategy
resonates strongly with customers. Our 2003 
gross margin improvement also demonstrates 
the positive effect that this program has had 
on merchandising productivity.
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We are also pleased with the success of our
private labels and exclusive national brands.
Jessica has become the number one brand of
women’s casual and career clothing sold in
Canada and Kenmore continues to be the 
number one selling brand of major appliances.

In April, the day after his victory at the Masters
tournament, we announced the exclusive right 
to represent Mike Weir’s line of golf accessories.
We followed up in December with our exclusive 
launch of Mike Weir Golf Apparel.

The relaunch of the Vogue intimate apparel 
brand in March and the launch of the Martha
Stewart Everyday line of home products in
September further enhanced our offerings 
of affordable and fashionable quality products 
for value-oriented shoppers.

The acquisition of Weir Golf, Vogue and Martha
Stewart Everyday brands are excellent examples 
of actions we are taking to adjust to a new value
paradigm. Our emphasis is on the right products at 
the right price – on making fashionable and well-
made merchandise, exclusive to Sears, available 
to all of our customers throughout all channels.

   



One of the most dramatic examples last year 
of our drive to improve presentation and service 
to customers was the launch of our new full-line
store prototype in five locations: Square One 
in Mississauga, Polo Park in Winnipeg, Yorkdale 
in Toronto, St. Jerome in Quebec, and at a new
store in Joliette, Quebec.

This new design incorporated input from
customers and from associates.These stores
feature a modern, easy-to-shop interior, wider
aisles, clear sightlines, improved lighting,
improved customer service desks and fitting 

rooms, and colour-coded departments that enable
customers to navigate our store far more easily
than in the past. Our emphasis is on attractive
merchandise presentation in a setting that is
efficient to operate and maintain.

These prototypes will serve as front-line labora-
tories – stores where we can test and refine best
practices. Ideas proven in these stores will be
installed not only in all new and renovated stores
in the future but selectively back-filled as well.
New signing regimes, installed and tested in our
five prototypes last fall, were installed in all 
stores in time for the Holiday shopping season.
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The Company’s off-mall furniture and appliance
stores were rebranded in 2003 to Sears Home –
Furniture, Appliances and Mattresses – to more
fully describe the broad array of home products
and services available to customers in our 
47 locations. In the first half of 2003, Sears
Home became the exclusive showcase for the
Sears Natuzzi Gallery, a unique presentation 
of high quality, Italian-made, upholstered 
leather and micro-fibre furniture.

It was our pleasure to welcome, from Italy,
Pasquale Natuzzi, Chairman and CEO to assist 
in the launch. Sears continues to sell more
furniture and major appliances than any other
retailer in Canada.

Sears HomeCentral expanded again in 2003 
and now serves customers through our network 
of product repair depots, home improvement
showrooms, floor covering centres, the internet 
and by phone at 1-800-4-MY-HOME.

Canadians spend more of their

fashion dollars at Sears than

anywhere else in Canada.
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Manage My Home, a custom Sears HomeCentral
on-line service that enables consumers to simplify
their home maintenance, won the Retail Council 
of Canada’s Excellence in Retailing Award in
2003 for retail technology.

The Company acquired the Esso Home Comfort
Service and Equipment business in selected
markets in Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia and
Newfoundland.The transaction included entering
into a marketing relationship in which Imperial 
Oil would offer our customers Esso branded 

home heating fuel while Sears Canada would
provide corresponding home heating and cooling
products, repair and maintenance services.

In December, Sears Canada was granted approval 
by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial
Institutions (OSFI) to commence operation of 
the Sears Canada Bank.This exciting development
opens up entirely new opportunities for the
Company in the financial services arena.
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Sears Kenmore is Canada’s 

#1 selling brand of major

appliances.

At the most basic level, it allows us to consolidate
our Sears Card and Sears MasterCard operations
under one federally regulated organization. Over 
the longer term, it enables us to develop and deliver
a broad range of financial products and services
such as lines of credit and mortgages.These new
products will further extend our existing suite 
of customer engagement instruments such as 
Sears Credit Protection, Life Insurance, Accident
Insurance, SearsConnect, Mature Outlook, and
Family First, enhancing our relationship with 
our customer base.
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In Spring 2003, the Company seamlessly moved
its credit operating platform from an over-20 year-
old proprietary system to TSYS (Total System
Services, Inc.).This new operating environment
had enabled us to launch Sears MasterCard in 
Fall 2002, and provides us now with a world 
class technology solution. At year end there were 
9.5 million Sears Card accounts representing 
$2.7 billion in receivables. In addition there 
were 130,000 Sears MasterCard accounts
representing $163 million in receivables.

In 2003 the Company relaunched its community
investment program, Sears Young Futures, which
supports organizations that provide after-school
programs that inspire children and youth to believe 
in themselves. As part of its relaunch, Sears
sponsored forums in four cities where youth groups
identified issues of concern to them relating to
community safety. Sears Young Futures Forum
reports were then presented by youth to City
Councils, some of which have already adopted the
recommendations put forward. Sears Canada is
listed as a Caring Company, as designated by the
Imagine Program, an initiative of the Canadian
Centre for Philanthropy.

   



In 2004 the Company is committed to building 
on the foundation of its repositioning efforts.
Sales expectations are positive throughout all
channels – Full-Line Stores and Sears Home 
as well as Sears Catalogue, Sears.ca, Sears
HomeCentral and Sears Travel.Though
competitive pressures on gross margins will
continue to be a concern, gross margins are
expected to rise again as a result of further
improvement in inventory productivity and
expansion of direct sourcing initiatives begun 
last year. Expense containment will again 
remain a significant management objective.

Net earnings before non-comparable items are
planned to increase in the mid-teens. Merchandise
and customer service excellence will remain 
the underlying objective of the Company.The 
year 2003 was an extraordinarily challenging 
year. We are hopeful that 2004 will be an
extraordinarily successful one.

Mark A. Cohen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Sears Whole Home is the 

#1 selling brand of window 

and bed coverings in Canada.
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Letter from the Chief Financial Officer

Dear Shareholder,

During 2003, Sears Canada pursued a number 
of important merchandising initiatives, including
the launch of our new full-line store prototype,
the redesign of our catalogue business, and 
the continued roll-out of our value strategy.
In addition to these initiatives, we established
Sears Canada Bank, a wholly-owned, federally-
regulated Schedule I Bank.

Sears Canada Bank increases regulatory
harmonization in our financial services business,
and we look forward to continuing the careful
expansion of our Sears MasterCard program 
in 2004.

In 2003, we reduced expenses by improving
productivity, strengthened our balance sheet,
and improved our net earnings before non-
comparable items. We feel confident that we 
are well positioned within the retail industry 
in Canada, and we remain committed to 
increasing shareholder value.

John Butcher
Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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ELEVEN YEAR SUMMARY1

Fiscal Year 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993
Results for the Year (in millions)
Total revenues2 $ 6,223 $ 6,536 $ 6,726 $ 6,356 $ 5,777 $ 5,132 $ 4,752 $ 4,120 $ 4,027 $ 4,168 $ 4,138 
Depreciation and amortization 147 149 169 130 113 96 78 78 74 67 69 
Earnings (loss) before unusual 

items and income taxes 241 219 172 321 345 269 215 70 43 88 15 
Unusual items gain (loss) (5) (189) 5 13 – – – (45) (21) (5) (5)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 236 30 177 334 345 269 215 25 22 83 10 
Income taxes (recovery) 101 (22) 83 108 145 123 99 16 10 38 6 
Net earnings (loss) 135 52 94 226 200 146 116 9 12 45 4 
Dividends declared 26 26 26 26 26 25 25 23 23 23 23 
Capital expenditures 196 184 147 447 231 142 160 63 76 60 37 
Year End Position (in millions)3

Accounts receivable $ 1,249 $ 1,323 $ 872 $ 942 $ 1,070 $ 1,100 $ 1,225 $ 1,033 $ 926 $ 1,324 $ 1,101 
Inventories 801 754 865 1,015 814 716 624 476 492 541 545 
Capital assets 1,043 1,037 1,189 1,199 984 868 825 744 763 800 813 
Total assets4 4,066 4,061 3,993 3,955 3,767 3,198 3,007 2,734 2,554 2,949 2,746 
Working capital 1,087 1,064 955 687 516 898 971 741 661 1,016 888 
Debt 770 776 813 699 686 844 848 817 789 1,253 947 
Shareholders’ equity 1,811 1,647 1,620 1,549 1,346 1,164 1,042 949 856 867 845 
Per Share of Capital Stock (in dollars)
Net earnings $ 1.26 $ 0.49 $ 0.88 $ 2.12 $ 1.88 $ 1.38 $ 1.10 $ 0.09 $ 0.13 $ 0.47 $ 0.05 
Dividends declared 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 
Shareholders’ equity 16.96 15.42 15.18 14.55 12.67 10.98 9.84 8.98 9.02 9.13 8.90 
Financial Ratios2,3

Return on average shareholders’ equity (%) 7.8 3.2 5.9 15.6 15.9 13.3 11.7 1.0 1.4 5.3 0.5 
Current ratio 1.8 1.7 1.7 1.4 1.3 1.7 1.9 1.7 1.7 2.0 2.0 
Return on total revenues (%) 2.2 0.8 1.4 3.6 3.5 2.8 2.4 0.2 0.3 1.1 0.1 
Debt/Equity ratio 30/70 32/68 33/67 31/69 34/66 42/58 45/55 46/54 48/52 59/41 53/47
Pre-tax margin (%) 3.8 0.5 2.6 5.3 6.0 5.2 4.5 0.6 0.5 2.0 0.2 
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(Eleven Year Summary continued)

Fiscal Year 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993
Number of Selling Units
Full-line stores 122 123 125 125 110 109 110 110 110 110 110 
Home stores 47 42 37 33 25 20 8 4 1 0 0 
Outlet stores 14 15 17 15 12 12 8 9 10 11 12 
Dealer stores 144 141 132 128 110 93 79 60 19 4 0 
Catalogue selling locations 2,233 2,220 2,157 2,103 2,005 1,898 1,752 1,746 1,623 1,542 1,483 
1 Certain amounts have been restated to reflect accounting changes related to the consolidation of the Company’s proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses

of real estate joint ventures as recommended by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The change in policy, effective in 1995, has been applied retroactively. 
2 Total revenues and cost of merchandise sold have been restated to reflect new guidance on recording of revenues. Revenues relating to the travel business and licensed department

businesses are now recorded in revenues net of cost of sales. The restatement had no impact on net earnings. The change in policy, effective in 2000, has been applied retroactively.
3 The 1999 balance sheet has been restated to reflect the finalization of the accounting for the acquisition of Eaton’s.
4 The 1993 to 2002 balance sheet has been restated to conform to the 2003 financial statement presentation.

COMMON SHARE MARKET INFORMATION 
(Toronto Stock Exchange – Trading symbol SCC)

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

High $ 19.00 $ 21.70 $ 18.25 $ 25.10 $ 19.56 $ 23.99 $ 21.50 $ 20.00 
Low $ 13.60 $ 17.05 $ 14.00 $ 19.20 $ 14.81 $ 16.54 $ 15.50 $ 15.15 
Close $ 14.81 $ 21.00 $ 16.65 $ 23.90 $ 18.10 $ 18.10 $ 16.06 $ 17.05 
Average daily trading volume 85,361 131,632 89,073 162,830 131,594 116,940 155,137 126,519 
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For purposes of this discussion, “Sears” or the “Company” refers to Sears Canada Inc. and its subsidiaries, together with its proportionate
share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint venture interests.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section of the Annual Report contains commentary from Sears management
regarding strategy, operating results, and financial condition. Management is responsible for its accuracy, integrity, and objectivity, and 
has developed, maintains, and supports the necessary systems and controls to provide reasonable assurance as to the accuracy of the
comments contained herein. 

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the 2003 fiscal year – the 53-week period ended January 3, 2004. The 2002 fiscal year refers to the 52-week period ended
December 28, 2002. The 2001 fiscal year refers to the 52-week period ended December 29, 2001. Unless otherwise indicated, all
amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. This MD&A is current as of February 20, 2004. Additional information relating to the
Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”), is available on - line at sedar.com. 

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain information in the Letter to Our Shareholders, this MD&A and in other public announcements by the Company is forward-looking
and is subject to important risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking information includes information concerning the Company’s future
financial performance, business strategy, plans, goals and objectives. 

Factors which could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things: the ability 
of the Company to successfully implement its strategic initiatives and whether such strategic initiatives will yield the expected benefits;
competitive conditions in the businesses in which the Company participates; changes in consumer spending; delinquency and charge-off
trends in the credit card receivables portfolio; consumer debt levels and the level of consumer bankruptcies; the outcome of pending legal
proceedings; the possibility of negative investment returns in the Company’s pension plan; changes in the Company’s debt ratings and
credit spreads; general economic conditions and normal business uncertainty; customer preferences towards product offerings; seasonal
weather patterns; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; changes in the Company’s relationship with its suppliers; interest rate
fluctuations and other changes in borrowing costs; and changes in laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company.

While the Company believes that its forecasts and assumptions are reasonable, results or events predicted in this forward-looking
information may differ materially from actual results or events. For additional information on these and other factors, see the reports 
filed by the Company with Canadian securities regulators. The Company intends the forward-looking information to speak only as of 
the time first made and does not undertake to update or revise it whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Company Overview & Capabilities

Sears is a multi-channel retailer with a presence in all of Canada’s provinces and territories.The Company classifies its 
operations into three major businesses: merchandising; credit; and real estate joint ventures.These operations are supported 
by Sears associates, facilities, logistics, supplier relationships, information technology infrastructure, and brand equity, as well 
as the Company’s ability to raise funds and working capital.

The number of associates employed by Sears at the end of 2003, 2002 and 2001 are shown in the following table:

As at As at As at
January 3, 2004 December 28, 2002 December 29, 2001

Full-time associates 12,596 13,046 13,363
Part-time associates 35,377 35,338 37,189
Total 47,973 48,384 50,552

Since a large number of associates are employed on a part-time basis, Sears tracks hours measured by full-time equivalents.
Through a number of productivity improvements over the past two years, full-time equivalents have decreased by 7.9% and 
Sears has reduced its total number of associates by 5.1%.

Merchandising Operations
This segment includes the sale of goods and services through Sears full-line stores, Home stores, dealer stores, outlet stores,
automotive centres, floor covering centres, travel services, catalogue and on-line at sears.ca. It also includes the products and
services offered under the Sears HomeCentral banner.

Many lines of merchandise are manufactured with features exclusive to Sears, and are sold under Sears private label brands 
such as Kenmore, Craftsman, Whole Home, Jessica, Nevada, and Vogue among others. Sears also carries several brands that 
are exclusive to its stores.

Sears purchases merchandise from approximately 2,000 merchandise suppliers, and operates five distribution centres and
warehouse facilities strategically located across the country.The total floor area of these service centres was 7.6 million 
square feet at the end of both 2002 and 2003.
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Sears wholly-owned subsidiary, S.L.H.Transport Inc. (“SLH”) moves merchandise to stores, catalogue pick-up locations, or
directly to customers. It not only provides logistics services for Sears merchandising operations, but also provides contract carrier
service to commercial customers who are unrelated to Sears.This increases SLH’s fleet utilization and improves the efficiency of
its operations. SLH continues to grow, and has developed a nation-wide distribution network to provide better and more consistent
service to its customers.

Sears has a national presence, with locations that are distributed across the country as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Atlantic Quebec Ontario Prairies Pacific Total Total Total

Full-line stores 11 27 47 22 15 122 123 125
Home stores 2 12 21 7 5 47 42 37
Dealer stores 18 18 35 56 17 144 141 132
Outlet stores 1 0 9 2 2 14 15 17
Auto centres 4 14 14 10 7 49 52 52
Floor covering centres 4 3 26 12 8 53 48 38
Travel offices 6 26 44 19 15 110 110 109
Catalogue/on-line pick-up locations 309 569 622 517 216 2,233 2,220 2,157

The gross square footage for Company-operated store locations is provided in the table below:

(square feet; millions) 2003 2002 2001
Full-line stores 17.4 17.5 17.8
Home stores 2.1 1.9 1.7
Outlet stores 1.2 1.3 1.6
Total 20.7 20.7 21.1

Full-Line Stores – Sears full-line stores present a wide assortment of merchandise and services, and are primarily located in
shopping centres in suburban markets. During 2003, Sears opened a full-line store in Joliette (Quebec), and closed full-line stores 
in St.Thomas (Ontario), and Victoria (British Columbia). In 2002, the Company relocated its full-line store in Sarnia (Ontario).
In early 2003, Sears made the decision to retain the old location temporarily as a value centre selling mostly regional clearance
fashion merchandise.This value centre closed during the fourth quarter of 2003. Sears plans to relocate one full-line store in 2004.
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Home Stores – Sears Home stores feature an expanded selection of furniture, mattresses and major appliances, and are typically
located in “big-box” malls. Home improvement showrooms are located within twelve Sears Home stores and offer a range of
products and services under the Sears HomeCentral banner that are a natural extension to purchases of home furnishings and
major appliances. During 2003, Sears opened six new Home stores, two in Edmonton (Alberta), and the other four located in
Sudbury (Ontario), Boisbriand (Quebec), Lethbridge (Alberta), and Ste. Foy (Quebec). A store in Toronto (Ontario) was closed
during the year. Sears plans to open three new Home stores in 2004.

Dealer Stores – Sears dealer stores are independent, locally-operated stores primarily in non-metropolitan markets that sell home
appliances, electronics, lawn and garden equipment. Furniture is also sold in 28 dealer stores. During 2003, dealer stores opened 
in St.Thomas (Ontario), Merritt (British Columbia), Listowel (Ontario), Fergus (Ontario), Peace River (Alberta), Whitecourt
(Alberta), and Neepawa (Manitoba). During 2003, dealer stores in Port Colborne (Ontario), Parksville (British Columbia), and
Orangeville (Ontario) were temporarily closed while the Company looks for new locations in these markets.The dealer store in
Joliette (Quebec) was closed and a full-line store was opened in this market. Additionally, there were nine dealer store relocations
during 2003. Sears anticipates two dealer store relocations in 2004, and approximately ten dealer store openings.

Outlet Stores – Sears outlet stores feature a wide assortment of value-priced apparel and big ticket surplus merchandise, as well
as a selection of in-season clearance merchandise. During 2003, Sears closed an outlet store in Don Mills, Ontario.

Catalogue & On-line – Sears catalogues are distributed throughout Canada to approximately four million households. Orders for
catalogue merchandise can be placed by telephone, mail, fax, on-line at sears.ca, or in person through Sears stores and catalogue
agents. At the end of the year 2,041 of the 2,233 catalogue locations were operated under independent, local ownership, with the
balance located within selected store locations.

Floor Covering Centres – Sears floor covering centres are independent, licensed centres that offer an assortment of broadloom 
and hard floor coverings.

Auto Centres – Sears auto centres provide automotive-related products and services.The focus is on selling and installing 
Sears exclusive DieHard batteries and Roadhandler tires, as well as national brand products.

Travel – Sears travel service operates within 110 Sears full-line stores, on-line at searstravel.ca, and by telephone 
at 1-866-FLY-SEARS.
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Sears HomeCentral – Sears HomeCentral business provides a broad range of home services.These include installations of a 
wide range of products such as central air, furnaces, gas fireplaces, roofing, and a variety of services such as lawn care, duct
cleaning, and carpet and upholstery cleaning.These products and services are marketed through showrooms located primarily in
Sears Home stores, by telephone at 1-800-4-MY-HOME (English) or 1-800-LE-FOYER (French), and on-line at sears.ca.

Credit Operations 
On December 15, 2003, Sears established Sears Canada Bank, a wholly-owned federally-regulated Schedule I Bank through 
which the credit card business operates. Sears Canada Bank extends credit to qualified customers on the Sears Card as well 
as the Sears MasterCard, which was launched in the third quarter of 2002.

Real Estate Joint Venture Operations 
Sears has joint venture interests in 16 shopping centres across Canada and carries the proportionate share of these interests in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Joint venture interests range from 15% to 50%, and are co-owned with major
shopping centre owners and institutional investors. Sears is not involved in the day-to-day management of the shopping centres,
but is actively involved in all major decisions. In January 2004, the Company sold its interest in the Pine Centre, Prince George
(British Columbia) shopping centre.

Strategic Direction

Sears is dedicated to providing its customers with quality merchandise and exceptional service coast-to-coast.The Company’s
vision is to provide total satisfaction to customers, opportunities for associates to grow and contribute, and superior returns to
shareholders. Sears corporate values focus on making Sears a “Great Place to Grow, Shop, Work, and Invest”.

Sears aims to attract and retain consumer spending through its merchandise and services assortment and presentation, the
adoption of emerging trends in retailing, and through new business opportunities.The Company has made the strategic decision 
to focus on sustainable and profitable growth, rather than pursuing growth for its own sake. Overall earnings growth is enhanced
through careful expense management and productive utilization of the Company’s resources.

The recognition and reputation of the Sears name and its brands in Canada is of key importance and the Company endeavours 
to maintain and develop its brand equity throughout all selling channels and communication with consumers.
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Merchandising Operations – Sears believes that revenue growth can be achieved by pursuing customer satisfaction through the
merchandise selection offered, the appropriate pricing of that merchandise, and the level of service provided.The location and
environment of Sears stores are also important factors. Customer loyalty is tracked through customer surveys for all sales
channels, and programs are in place to encourage a high level of customer service.

Management regularly reviews the assortment of merchandise and services that Sears offers, and conducts research and analysis
on customer preferences.Through the Company’s value strategy, merchandise can be categorized into the “Sears More Value”
program, which provides consistent pricing at a level that provides value to the customer with consideration to the features of the
product, or the “Sears Essentials” program, which provides consistent value pricing for basic items.The remaining merchandise 
is offered through the “Sears on Sale” promotional program.

In selecting and pricing its merchandise, Sears pays close attention to the profitability of the sales of those items.Therefore in
addition to sales, gross margin rates and dollar amounts are key performance drivers that Sears uses as a measure of performance
in achieving its objective of profitable growth.

Another factor that Sears considers in selecting merchandise is its relationship with its suppliers, many of whom have long-
standing associations with the Company. Sears is committed to conducting its business in Canada and abroad with a high standard
of business ethics, in compliance with all applicable laws, and with regard for human rights and workplace standards. Sears
expects its vendors to do the same, and has developed the Sears Buying Policy, contractual requirements, and factory evaluation
procedures to maximize vendor compliance with Sears requirements.

Sears operates full-line stores in most of the major regional shopping centres across Canada. However, as there are no plans for
new shopping centres to be built, Sears is pursuing growth through free-standing locations, extending services such as travel and
home services, and through improvements to its catalogue and on-line channel.The search for potential new store locations is
ongoing, and Sears regularly reviews the performance of its existing stores to make improvements or to close stores that are not
expected to adequately perform in the future.

It is the Company’s objective to offer its products in the most appropriate channels and markets, to allow ease of shopping for 
its customers, and to maintain an appropriate store environment.This requires a continual process of refining the placement and
size of product categories within particular Sears stores, and improving store locations from time to time.The Company also
manages its catalogue and on-line operations with a focus on selecting the appropriate merchandise to be offered through this
channel, optimizing the circulation of catalogues, reducing unproductive spending on catalogue marketing, and minimizing 
surplus inventory.
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Management continues to focus on the control of all expenses related to the operation of its selling channels, as well as the
improvement of sales floor, catalogue and on-line productivity. At any one time, various initiatives to improve operations are 
in progress, such as managing returns, allowances and cancellations, controlling freight costs, working to link compensation 
to productivity, building a customer service culture through associate training and implementing quality programs.

Credit Operations – Sears focuses on offering attractive credit products to Sears customers and to promote revenue growth with
attention to the quality of its portfolio of receivables. During 2003 the Company made the strategic decision to establish Sears
Canada Bank, which will continue to offer credit products.The Company anticipates growth through the continued roll-out of the
Sears MasterCard. Management continues to evaluate new opportunities that would be an appropriate fit for Sears Canada Bank.

Real Estate Joint Venture Operations – The primary objective of Sears real estate joint venture operations is to maximize the
returns on its investment in shopping centre real estate. Sears reviews the performance of these joint ventures on a regular basis.

2003 Key Accomplishments

Sears initiated a number of activities during 2003 that management believes will serve the Company well on a continuing basis.

Value Strategy – Sears completed the implementation of its three-pronged value strategy during 2003.The first two components
of this strategy are the “Sears More Value” program, which offers items that have additional product features compared to
similarly priced items and are offered at consistent prices, and the “Sears Essentials” program, which features basic items at
opening price points.These products have lower marketing costs than promotional items and Sears typically purchases them 
at or below the average cost of similar products. Both programs have produced higher than average gross profit margin rates.
The third component of the value strategy is “Sears on Sale”.The intent of this program is to present the customer with a 
uniform and focused promotional program.

Full-Line Store Prototype – A new Sears full-line store prototype was unveiled during the third quarter of 2003 at the 
Square One (Mississauga, Ontario) store and the Polo Park (Winnipeg, Manitoba) store, and at three other stores during the
fourth quarter.This prototype is designed to optimize the placement of related merchandise categories and make it easier for
customers to find products. It emphasizes the Company’s private label brands and uses consistent signing throughout the store.
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Catalogue Business Redesign – During 2003, Sears redesigned its catalogue business.The number of items offered through the
catalogue was reduced, resulting in less excess inventory, and a reduced need to liquidate merchandise.This enabled Sears to 
close the outlet store in Don Mills, Ontario during the third quarter of 2003, which is a positive outcome as outlet stores are
typically not profitable.The Company continues to tightly control its catalogue advertising and production costs.

Sears Canada Bank – In December 2003, Sears established Sears Canada Bank, a wholly-owned federally-regulated Schedule I
Bank.This initiative creates greater regulatory harmonization across the Company’s national financial services operations, and
provides Sears with the flexibility to offer innovative financial products to its customers.

Sears MasterCard – Sears MasterCard was launched in the third quarter of 2002 and continued to be rolled out during 2003.
To-date there have been three direct mailings offering the card to a selection of former Eatons Card holders and a selection of
Sears Card holders in Ontario, the western provinces, and the territories. Sears MasterCard has allowed the Company to expand 
its charge account receivables base and growth of this product will continue to be managed in a careful and conservative manner.

Outsourcing of Credit Card Processing – During 2003, Sears outsourced the processing of Sears Card credit accounts and
transactions to Total System Services, Inc. (“TSYS”), a shared third-party provider.The processing of Sears MasterCard credit
accounts and transactions have been conducted through TSYS since the Sears MasterCard was launched in 2002.The additional
services provided by TSYS allow greater flexibility and ease of implementation in the Company’s credit product offerings.

Expansion of Sears HomeCentral – During the third quarter of 2003, Sears acquired the Esso Home Comfort Service and
Equipment business from Imperial Oil in selected markets in Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, and Newfoundland, at which time
approximately 90,000 Imperial Oil customers became customers of Sears HomeCentral.

On-Line Improvements – Sears.ca was re-launched in May 2003.The site has a new design and improved customer interfaces.
During 2003, the Company entered into an agreement whereby Sears merchandise available on sears.ca will also be accessible 
on-line at shopping.msn.ca.This allows customers to compare Sears merchandise to other retailers when they search by product
category on MSN.CA.
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2003 Financial Results

Unless otherwise noted, 2003 results reflect a 53-week period while 2002 and 2001 results reflect a 52-week period.

Consolidated Financial Results
% Chg % Chg

2003 vs 2002 vs
(in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2002 2001 2001
Total Revenues $ 6,222.7 (4.8%) $ 6,535.9 (2.8%) $ 6,726.4
Cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses 5,775.9 (5.4%) 6,107.9 (3.4%) 6,320.9
Depreciation 146.6 (1.4%) 148.7 (12.2%) 169.3
Interest 59.5 (0.5%) 59.8 (6.9%) 64.2
Unusual items 5.0 (97.4%) 189.1 35.4% (5.5)
Income taxes 101.0 563.3% (21.8) (126.1%) 83.4
Net earnings $ 134.7 158.0% $ 52.2 (44.5%) $ 94.1

Earnings per share $ 1.26 $ 0.49 $ 0.88
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.26 $ 0.49 $ 0.88

2003 Compared with 2002 – Total revenues decreased in 2003 versus 2002.This was primarily due to:

• a decrease in revenues from merchandising operations (see page 34) 

which was partially offset by:

• an increase in revenues from credit operations (see page 36); and

• a slight increase in revenues from real estate joint venture operations (see page 39); and

• an increase in revenues due to an additional week in the 2003 fiscal period amounting to an estimated $85 million.

The cost of merchandise sold decreased in 2003 compared to 2002, reflecting lower spending on goods and services due to lower
sales, as well as favourable procurement conditions. On a comparable week basis, gross margin rates increased by 46 basis points
in 2003 compared to 2002, which exceeded the Company’s planned increase of 30 basis points for the year.
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Operating, administrative and selling expenses decreased by 2.5% in 2003 over 2002 due to a continued focus on expense
management, particularly in advertising expense and payroll costs.

Depreciation expense decreased marginally during 2003 compared to 2002. Depreciation expense was lower in 2003 as a result 
of assets which were written-down in the first quarter of 2002 due to the conversion of Eatons stores to the Sears banner. Recent
purchases of capital assets relating to several store retrofits, and to the reformatting of the home fashions departments in most
full-line stores partially offset this decrease.

Interest expense in 2003 was approximately the same as in 2002. A decrease in funding requirements was offset by higher
effective interest rates. See the “Funding Costs” section of this MD&A for more information.

Net earnings increased significantly in 2003 versus 2002, primarily due to a much smaller charge to unusual items during the 
year than in 2002. Unusual items, together with securitization activities, are also referred to as non-comparable items, and are
discussed in more detail in the “Earnings Before Non-Comparable Items” section of this MD&A.

2002 Compared with 2001 – Total revenues decreased in 2002 versus 2001, primarily due to same store sales decreases and 
a decrease in revenues from credit operations. Same store sales represent sales at full-line, Home, dealer, and outlet stores that 
were continuously open during both of the periods being compared.

The cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 largely
reflecting management actions taken on inventory-related expenses, and control of other expenses. Gross margin dollars increased
by 6.9% in 2002 over 2001, primarily as a result of reductions in unprofitable promotional activity as well as improved 
inventory productivity.

Depreciation expense decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 as a result of the write-down of assets in the first quarter of 2002
relating to the conversion of Eatons stores to the Sears banner.

Interest expense in 2002 decreased in comparison with 2001 primarily as a result of lower funding requirements. Additional
information on this topic is provided in the “Funding Costs” section of this MD&A.

Net earnings decreased in 2002 versus 2001, primarily due to a $180 million pre-tax charge in 2002 relating to the conversion 
of Eatons stores to the Sears banner.This unusual item is discussed in more detail in the “Earnings Before Non-Comparable
Items” section of this MD&A.
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Earnings Before Non-Comparable Items 

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”). Earnings before non-comparable items is a non-GAAP measure which excludes securitization activities and one-time,
non-recurring gains and losses. It does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and is therefore unlikely to be
comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Sears uses this measure to better assess the Company’s underlying
performance, and provides this additional information in this MD&A so that investors may do the same.

A reconciliation of earnings before non-comparable items to the Company’s GAAP net earnings is outlined in the following table.

Before Tax After-tax Earnings (loss) per share 
(in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Earnings before non-comparable items $ 241.4 $ 240.6 $ 124.4 $ 140.9 $ 138.7 $ 66.5 $ 1.32 $ 1.30 $ 0.62

Effect from sale of receivables (0.7) (21.1) 54.0 (0.5) (12.9) 32.4 (0.01) (0.12) 0.30
Environmental remediation (5.0) –   –   (3.1) –   –   (0.03) –   –   
Tax provision, St Laurent – –   –   (2.6) –   –   (0.02) –   –   
Deferred tax credit – –   –   – 51.6 (4.0) – 0.49 (0.04)
Conversion of Eatons stores – (180.0) –   – (120.6) –   – (1.13) –   
Sale of airplane – 3.6 –   – 2.2 –   – 0.02 –   
Call centre consolidation – (3.2) –   – (1.9) –   – (0.02) –   
Sale of call centre – 6.3 –   – 4.6 –   – 0.04 –   
Retail restructuring – (13.7) –   – (8.2) –   – (0.08) –   
Catalogue pre-press outsourcing – (2.1) –   – (1.3) –   – (0.01) –   
Sale of distribution facility – –   8.3 – –   4.8 – –   0.05 
Auto centre closures – –   (2.8) – –   (1.6) – –   (0.01)
Contractual commitment – –   (6.4) – –   (4.0) – –   (0.04)

Net earnings $ 235.7 $ 30.4 $ 177.5 $ 134.7 $ 52.2 $ 94.1 $ 1.26 $ 0.49 $ 0.88 

Pre-tax earnings before non-comparable items for 2003 were approximately the same as the previous year. Lower revenues were
offset by a lower cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative, and selling expenses.
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Pre-tax earnings before non-comparable items for 2002 were significantly higher than 2001, largely as a result of improved 
gross margins and expense controls, which were partially offset by lower operating earnings from credit operations due to costs
related to the launch of the Sears MasterCard and lower credit revenues as a result of lower charge account receivable balances.

The non-comparable items listed in the above table are described below, and these items are also discussed in the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Effect from Sale of Receivables – The effect from the sale of receivables is considered a non-comparable item because the 
timing and the dollar amount of funding transactions impact the amount of the gain or loss.

The effect from the sale of receivables reflects the accounting guideline introduced by the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants in July 2001 and subsequently adopted by the Company.The essence of this guideline requires a gain or loss to 
be recorded when receivables are sold that reflects the expected future income stream from the Company’s retained interest 
in the sold receivables. A decrease in the outstanding balance of receivables sold decreases the amount of the future income 
stream previously recognized, resulting in a reduction of income in the current period. A portion of securitized receivables sold 
are subject to this accounting policy. It is the amount and timing of the transactions related to these particular securitized
receivables that give rise to the gain or reduction to income. Additional information on this topic can be found in the “Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Environmental Remediation – In the fourth quarter of 2003, Sears increased its reserve for the remediation of property 
affected by former gas bar locations.The Company continues to monitor its obligations with respect to these locations.

Tax Provision, St. Laurent Shopping Centre, Ottawa – This is a provision against a disputed deduction in the calculation of the
capital gain on the disposal of this joint venture.The Company disposed of its interest in the joint venture and recorded a gain 
on the transaction as an unusual item in fiscal 2000.

Deferred Tax Credit – The Company adopted the new “Business Combinations” accounting standard in the 2003 fiscal year.This
new standard is discussed in more detail in the “Accounting Policies” section of this MD&A. As a result of this implementation,
the Company revised the accounting for the deferred tax credit relating to the acquisition of The T. Eaton Company Limited.
The $54.2 million unamortized balance of the deferred credit at the end of 2002 was added to opening retained earnings for 
the 2003 fiscal year.
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Included in future income taxes during 2002 was a credit totaling $51.6 million.This was comprised of $21.5 million relating 
to the recognition of deferred credit from the acquisition of The T. Eaton Company Limited. It also included a $30.1 million credit
resulting from a change in timing of the expected utilization of tax losses and finalization of previously estimated losses acquired
with the purchase of The T. Eaton Company Limited.

Conversion of Eatons Stores – A one-time, pre-tax charge of $180 million was recorded in the first quarter of 2002 related to 
the conversion of the Eatons department stores to the Sears banner.This amount included a non-cash write-down of $150 million
on fixtures and leasehold improvements.The balance of $30 million was a cash charge that included severance payments, third
party commitments, and store closure costs.

Sale of airplane – A one-time, pre-tax gain of $3.6 million was recorded in the first quarter of 2002 for the sale of 
a corporate airplane.

Call Centre Consolidation – Sears incurred a pre-tax charge of $3.2 million in the second quarter of 2002 relating to the closure
of the Sears Credit and Sears HomeCentral call centre in Kitchener, the Sears HomeCentral call centre in Toronto, and the Sears
Travel call centre in Ottawa.The closures were made possible by efficiencies generated from technology that was introduced to the
call centres in 2001.

Sale of Call Centre – The building that housed the Kitchener call centre was sold in the fourth quarter of 2002, resulting in 
a pre-tax gain of $6.3 million.

Other 2002 Items – During 2002, Sears incurred a pre-tax charge of $13.7 million relating to restructuring its retail commission
structure and a $2.1 million pre-tax charge relating to the outsourcing of the catalogue design, layout, and copy.These amounts
related primarily to severance.

2001 Items – During 2001, Sears incurred a pre-tax gain of $8.3 million on the sale of a distribution facility, a $2.8 million pre-tax
charge relating to the closures of several auto centres, and a $6.4 million pre-tax charge relating to a contractual commitment.
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2004 Outlook 
The Company believes it is well positioned and anticipates a stable economy. Management believes that the underlying sales trends
have begun to improve due to positive same store sales improvements in August, September and December of 2003, and which
have continued in January 2004. Same store sales for 2004 are planned to increase at a low single-digit rate. Gross margin
improvements and expense management efforts will continue to be an important feature of the Company’s 2004 plan. As a result,
net earnings before non-comparable items are expected to increase at a mid-teen rate. Management continues to consider the
customer’s increased value orientation.The recent establishment of Sears Canada Bank as a Schedule I Bank will enable the Company
to further expand its Sears MasterCard program across the country and to explore the development of new financial services.

Quarterly Results

(unaudited) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Total revenues $ 1,281.9 $ 1,404.7 $ 1,468.4 $ 1,593.3 $ 1,433.3 $ 1,481.1 $ 2,039.1 $ 2,056.8 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 20.5 $ (170.6) $ 24.7 $ 31.6 $ 28.4 $ 15.9 $ 162.1 $ 153.5 
Net earnings (loss) $ 11.4 $ (115.9) $ 13.0 $ 17.4 $ 13.4 $ 7.3 $ 96.9 $ 143.4 
Earnings (loss) per share $ 0.11 $ (1.09) $ 0.12 $ 0.17 $ 0.12 $ 0.07 $ 0.91 $ 1.34 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.11 $ (1.09) $ 0.12 $ 0.17 $ 0.12 $ 0.07 $ 0.91 $ 1.34 

Seasonality of Results 
Revenues vary by quarter due to the seasonality of the retail industry. Historically, the Company’s revenues and earnings are 
higher in the fourth quarter than in any of the other three quarters due to increased consumer spending over the holiday period.
Variable costs can be adjusted to match the revenue pattern, but costs such as occupancy are fixed, leading Sears to report 
a disproportionate level of earnings in the fourth quarter.This business seasonality results in quarterly performance that is not
necessarily indicative of performance for the balance of the year.



SEARS CANADA INC.34

Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2003 were lower than in the fourth quarter of 2002, largely as a result of a tax credit 
that was included in future income taxes during the fourth quarter of 2002.This credit was related to the acquisition of 
The T. Eaton Company Limited and is described in more detail in the previous section of this MD&A.

Earnings before non-comparable items for the 14-week period ended January 3, 2004 were $102.6 million or 96 cents per share,
compared to $95.3 million or 89 cents per share for the 13-week period ended December 28, 2002.Total revenues in the fourth
quarter of 2003 decreased 4.7% on a comparable week basis. Same store sales decreased 1.3% in the fourth quarter.Though
total sales in the quarter declined, largely as a result of lower sales in November 2003, sales trends improved in December 2003.
While gross margins were under pressure in the quarter, strong expense disciplines throughout the Company led to a 7.7%
improvement in fourth quarter earnings before non-comparable items.

Results from Merchandising Operations

% Chg % Chg
2003 vs 2002 vs

(in millions) 2003 2002 2002 2001 2001
Revenues $ 5,818.2 (5.8%) $ 6,176.5 (1.8%) $ 6,290.5
Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes $ 183.2 (16.2%) $ 218.5 148.6% $ 87.9
Average capital employed $ 925.1 (21.5%) $ 1,177.9 (11.7%) $ 1,333.4

2003 Compared with 2002 – Revenues from merchandising operations decreased in 2003 over 2002, primarily due to 
a decrease in catalogue and on-line sales and a reduction in same store sales.

The decrease in catalogue and on-line sales was consistent with the strategic business redesign that occurred in that channel 
during 2003, and which is described in the “2003 Key Accomplishments” section of this MD&A.
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On a comparable week basis, same store sales decreased 4.6% in 2003 compared to 2002.The merchandise categories that
experienced the weakest sales were furniture, luggage and footwear, hardware, sporting goods, toys and electronics.The 
strongest merchandise category for Sears during 2003 was major appliances, which had an increase in comparable week sales 
of 6.4% over the prior year.

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes for merchandising operations decreased during 2003 compared to 
2002, primarily due to lower revenues that were partially offset by higher gross margin rates and a focus on controlling expenses.

Sears manages its inventories in such a way that it offers appropriate items while minimizing costs associated with inventories.
Inventory levels at a point in time may not be representative of the overall levels of inventory over time, so management looks 
at the average inventory level for the year. Average monthly inventory for 2003 was $840 million, compared to $875 million 
in 2002, a reduction of 4.0%.

Average capital employed for merchandising operations was lower in 2003 compared to 2002 as a result of lower average cash
balances, inventories and capital asset balances.

2002 Compared with 2001 – Revenues from merchandising operations decreased in 2002 over 2001, reflecting reduced
promotional activity as well as disruption caused by store renovations, openings and closings. Same store sales decreased 4.3%
compared to the prior year, with decreases in the electronics category being most significant. Sales in major appliances were
positive compared to 2001, which was consistent with industry growth brought about by strong housing starts.

The improvement in earnings was a result of higher gross margins, improved inventory productivity and expense management.

Average capital employed for merchandising operations was lower in 2002 compared to 2001, largely as a result of lower 
average inventories.
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Results from Credit Operations

% Chg % Chg
2003 vs 2002 vs 

(in millions) 2003 2002 2002 2001 2001
Operating revenues $ 430.1 6.0% $ 405.6 (5.2%) $ 427.7
Effect from sale of receivables (0.7) (21.1) 54.0
Securitization funding cost (81.6) (81.4) (101.9)

Net credit revenues $ 347.8 14.7% $ 303.1 (20.2%) $ 379.8

Operating earnings 169.8 26.8% 133.9 (19.7%) 166.8
Effect from sale of receivables (0.7) (21.1) 54.0
Securitization funding cost (81.6) (81.4) (101.9)

Earnings before interest, unusual items and income taxes $ 87.5 178.7% $ 31.4 (73.6%) $ 118.9
Average capital employed $ 1,417.3 29.2% $ 1,097.3 29.1% $ 850.1

2003 Compared with 2002 – Revenues from credit operations increased during 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to the
growth of the Sears MasterCard.The effect from the sale of receivables is the result of the accounting treatment of a funding
transaction, and should not be interpreted as an indication of the quality of the Sears credit portfolio, or the ability of Sears 
to raise funds. Additional information on the accounting method for securitization can be found in the “Earnings Before Non-
Comparable Items” section of this MD&A, and in the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Operating earnings for credit operations increased in 2003 over 2002, primarily due to higher revenues from Sears MasterCard 
as well as lower bad debt expense during the year. During 2003, a $28 million decrease in the bad debt reserve reflected 
improved credit trends.

Average capital employed for credit operations increased in 2003 versus 2002, primarily the result of an increase in account
receivables, mainly attributable to the introduction of the Sears MasterCard.

2002 Compared with 2001 – Revenues from credit operations decreased during 2002 compared to 2001, primarily as a 
result of lower charge account receivables balances.These lower balances related to a decrease in merchandise revenues and 
to customers paying down their balances more quickly than they did previously.
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Credit operating earnings decreased in 2002 over 2001, reflecting the decline in credit revenues and the costs related to the 
launch of the Sears MasterCard.

Average capital employed for credit operations increased in 2002 versus 2001 primarily as a result of investment in the launch 
of the Sears MasterCard.

Managed Accounts Receivable – The chart below summarizes various balances relating to customer account receivables.

As at As at As at 
(in millions) January 3, 2004 December 28, 2002 December 29,2001
Sears Card receivables – current $ 1,938.9 $ 1,746.8 $ 1,885.9
Sears MasterCard receivables – current 162.5 135.6 –
Customer receivables – deferred1 765.3 870.6 755.7
Managed accounts 2,866.7 2,753.0 2,641.6
Less: Co-ownership held by third parties (1,419.0) (1,423.5) (1,804.2)
Co-ownership retained by the Company $ 1,447.7 $ 1,329.5 $ 837.4
1 Primarily Sears Card receivables

Managed accounts receivable at the end of 2003 were $113.7 million higher than at the end of 2002, primarily due to balances
from the new Sears MasterCard.

The decrease in deferred balances in 2003 compared to 2002 reflects the timing of the activation of deferred balances.The
increase in deferred balances in 2002 compared to 2001 was mainly the result of promotions held during the fourth quarter 
of 2002. All purchases made on the Sears Card during this particular promotional period were automatically deferred until 
March or April 2003.

The co-ownership held by third parties represents the portion of the Sears Card managed accounts receivable that the Company
sold to off-balance sheet securitization trusts. Securitized balances were slightly lower at the end of 2003 compared to 2002,
and in 2002 compared to 2001, as a result of decreased funding requirements.The decrease in co-ownership held by third parties
is a direct result of the decreased funding requirements. Securitization is discussed in more detail in the “Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements” section of this MD&A.
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The following table indicates the proportion of Sears customer purchases that are made through various methods of payment.

2003 2002 2001
Private label cards1 60.2% 60.6% 60.5%
Third party credit cards 16.3% 16.5% 15.6%
Debit cards 8.8% 8.6% 8.5%
Cash 14.7% 14.3% 15.4%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
1 Includes Sears Card, Sears MasterCard, and former Eatons Card

Average ending balances on active customer credit card accounts are tracked to determine the level at which customers purchase
goods and services on their cards, and to assist in analysis of credit revenues.

The following table outlines key credit metrics tracked by Sears.

Sears Card1 Sears MasterCard
As at As at As at As at As at

January 3, December 28, December 29, January 3, December 28,
2004 2002 2001 2004 2002

Active accounts (thousands) 4,125 4,176 4,302 65 69
Average outstanding balance2 $ 650 $ 627 $ 614 $ 2,657 $ 2,179
1 Includes the Eatons Card
2 Includes deferred receivables

Net write-offs were $87.4 million for the Sears Card in 2003, compared to $77.0 million in 2002 and $74.2 million in 2001.
Net write-offs for the Sears MasterCard were $15.4 million during 2003. Higher write-offs in the first three quarters of 2003
were due to the transition arising from the consolidation of the credit call centres in 2002 and the period of adjustment in
outsourcing the credit portfolio to TSYS. By year end, write-offs and delinquency trends were much improved.
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Results from Real Estate Joint Venture Operations

% Chg % Chg
2003 vs 2002 vs

(in millions) 2003 2002 2002 2001 2001
Revenues $ 56.7 0.7% $ 56.3 0.4% $ 56.1 

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes $ 29.5 0.3% $ 29.4 0.0% $ 29.4 
Average capital employed $ 159.9 4.6% $ 152.9 (2.5%) $ 156.9 

The current market value of Sears interest in its real estate joint venture properties is estimated to be approximately $330 million
($322 million at the end of 2002 and $324 million at the end of 2001). It is the Company’s policy to have one-third of the
properties independently appraised each year, while the appraisals of the remaining two-thirds are reviewed and updated 
by management. Sears portion of the debt of these properties was $135 million at the end of 2003 ($140 million at the end 
of 2002 and $145 million at the end of 2001).

Of the 16 real estate joint venture properties, 14 contain a Sears full-line store. Revenue in the table above excludes Sears
proportionate share of revenues of $3.0 million in 2003 ($3.1 million in 2002 and $3.0 million in 2001) earned from the 
Sears full-line stores.

Earnings from real estate joint venture operations in 2003 were consistent with previous years.

Average capital employed for real estate joint venture operations increased from 2003 to 2002, and decreased in 2002 
compared to 2001, primarily as a result of changes in the segment’s taxes recoverable and payable balances.

In January 2004, the Company sold its interest in the Pine Centre, Prince George (British Columbia) shopping centre.
The transaction will be recorded as an unusual item in the first quarter 2004 results.
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Liquidity & Financial Position 

At January 3, 2004, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.8:1 compared to 1.7:1 at December 28, 2002,
and 1.7:1 at December 29, 2001.The increased ratio compared to the end of 2002 was primarily the result of an increased
investment in charge account receivables resulting from growth of the Sears MasterCard, and an increase in ending inventories,
partially offset by lower ending cash balances and a lower current portion of future income tax assets.These factors also
contributed to an increase in working capital. At January 3, 2004, working capital was $1.087 billion compared to 
$1.064 billion at December 28, 2002 and $955.6 million at December 29, 2001.

The following table shows ending total assets for 2003, 2002, and 2001:

(in millions, as at year end) 2003 2002 2001
Total Assets $ 4,065.7 $ 4,061.3 $ 3,993.4 

Please refer to the “Contractual Obligations”, “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements”, and “Funding Costs” sections of this MD&A 
as well as the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for information on the Company’s long-term financing liabilities.

Cash and short-term investments decreased by $60.2 million (42.2%) from 2002 reflecting higher than average cash 
and short-term investments balances at the end of 2002 due to the timing of cash repayments related to the Company’s
securitization program.

Inventories increased by $47.3 million (6.3%) from 2002, reflecting the earlier receipt of inventory purchases in advance 
of the spring season.

Shareholders’ equity increased $164 million (10.0%) as a result of Sears 2003 earnings, net of dividend payments and the adoption
of the “Business Combinations” standard that is discussed in more detail in the “Accounting Policies” section of this MD&A.

Total assets in 2002 increased by $67.9 million (1.7%) over the prior year, primarily due to an increase in total accounts
receivable of $512.3 million over the prior year.
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In 2002, cash and short-term investments decreased by $186.5 million (56.6%). Funds raised late in 2001 were used to 
decrease securitized funding in order to bring cash balances in line with target levels.

Inventories decreased by $110.5 million (12.8%) in 2002 from 2001, reflecting inventory management initiatives.

Capital assets decreased by $151.8 million (12.8%) in 2002 from 2001, primarily due to the $150 million non-cash write-down
of assets relating to the conversion of seven Eatons stores to the Sears banner.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities – Cash flow generated from operations was $191.8 million lower in 2003 than in 2002.
This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations. Specifically,
ending inventories increased in 2003 compared to a decrease in 2002, because of the timing of inventory purchases in advance of
the spring season. In addition, accrued liabilities had a negative impact on cash flow from operating activities in 2003 compared 
to a positive impact in 2002 due to accrued expenses for associate compensation and reserves made with respect to unusual items.
A decrease in miscellaneous receivables in 2003 compared with 2002 was largely due to an adjustment for unshipped sales as 
a result of shopping patterns associated with the 53rd week in the 2003 fiscal year.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities – During 2003 and 2002, there were no significant financing activities. Cash dividends of
$0.06 per share were declared on a quarterly basis throughout 2001, 2002, and 2003.The Board of Directors has authorized 
the payment of a quarterly dividend of $0.06 per share on March 15, 2004 to shareholders of record on February 16, 2004. As 
at January 3, 2004, the only shares outstanding were the common shares of the Company.The number of outstanding common
shares at the end of 2003, 2002, and 2001 is shown in the following table.

(as at year end) 2003 2002 2001
Outstanding shares 106,798,464 106,769,230 106,733,618

On January 20, 2004, 8,332 common shares were issued pursuant to Special Incentive Awards to senior executives and during 
the month of January 2004, 715 common shares were issued pursuant to the Employees Stock Plan to associates of the Company.
On February 2, 2004, a total of 540,380 options (convertible to common shares) were granted to Officers and associates pursuant
to the Employees Stock Plan.

Cash Flow from Investment Activities – During 2002, investment in receivables increased significantly due to the launch of the
Sears MasterCard. In 2003, Sears MasterCard balances grew more modestly.

 



SEARS CANADA INC.42

During 2003, capital expenditures were $196 million, compared to $184 million in 2002 and $143 million in 2001. Capital
spending was higher in 2003 primarily due to an increased investment in full-line selling channel initiatives, which was partially
offset by decreased investments in information systems and logistics. In 2004, Sears is planning to make capital expenditures 
of $150 million to $200 million.The renovation of several full-line stores will be a priority in 2004.

Contractual Obligations – Contractual obligations, including payments due for each of the next five years and thereafter, are 
shown in the following table:

Payments Due by Period
2005 to 2007 to 2009 &

(in $ millions, as at year end) Total 2004 2006 2008 beyond
Long-term debt (excluding capital lease obligations) 756 4 224 144 384
Securitized obligations 1,419 799 620 – –
Capital lease obligations 14 3 5 5 1 
Operating leases 1,026 111 211 175 529 

The Company has not identified any reasonably foreseeable circumstances that would trigger any early payment or acceleration
provisions in the debt portfolio.

Pension & Post Retirement Benefit Obligations – The net expense relating to the Company’s obligations for pensions and post
retirement benefits increased by approximately $17.6 million in 2003, due to stock market performance in 2001 and 2002 that
was below actuarial expectations.The net expense is expected to increase by approximately $24 million in 2004.The majority 
of this additional expense is due to a lowered liability discount rate which is based on long-term interest rates. Management
believes that there will be no significant impact on future cash flows arising from this increase.
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Capital Resources

The Company’s capital expenditures, working capital needs, dividend payments, debt repayment, and other financing needs are
funded through a variety of sources. Sears has financial capacity and flexibility due to its access to the capital markets and the
quality and liquidity of its assets, principally its credit card receivables.This access to capital markets also allows the Company 
to effectively manage liquidity and interest rate risk. Liquidity risk is the measure of the Company’s ability to fund maturities 
and provide for the operating needs of its businesses. Interest rate risk is the effect on net income from changes in interest rates.
The Company’s policy is to manage interest rate risk through the strategic use of fixed and variable rate debt and interest rate
derivatives. Sears does not use derivatives for trading purposes.

The Company’s cost of funds is affected by a variety of general economic conditions, including overall interest rate environment,
as well as the Company’s debt ratings and fluctuations of its credit spread over applicable reference rates.The primary sources 
of funding include cash generated from operations, the securitization of charge account receivables, and the issuance of corporate
debt securities.The Company can also generate cash by issuing equity securities. Sears expects that cash flow from operations 
will satisfy the majority of the Company’s funding requirements in 2004. In selecting appropriate funding choices, the Company’s
objective is to manage its capital structure in such a way as to diversify its funding sources, minimize its funding costs and risk,
and optimize its credit rating. Based on its current credit ratings and its experiences in the capital markets, Sears anticipates 
no difficulty in obtaining long-term financing.

On February 14, 2003, Sears filed a short-form shelf prospectus, which expires in February 2005, and permits the Company 
to offer medium-term notes in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million. Sears did not issue any notes in 2003 under 
this shelf prospectus, and does not currently expect to offer any in 2004.

As at February 20, 2004, the Company had the capacity to sell an additional $106 million co-ownership interest in its charge
account receivables under its securitization program described in the next section.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Securitization – Securitization of charge account receivables is an important financing vehicle for the Company that involves
selling customer charge account receivables balances to three trusts: SCRT-1992 (formerly known as Sears Canada Receivables
Trust-1992), SCRT-1996 (formerly known as Sears Canada Receivables Trust-1996) and SCORE Trust. CIBC Mellon Trust
Company is the trustee of each trust. Based on the structure of the trusts and the governing accounting rules, the assets and
liabilities of these trusts are not reflected in Sears consolidated financial statements. See “Accounting Policies – Future
Accounting Standards” for proposed changes to the consolidation of some legal entities.
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These trusts have been established for the purpose of purchasing co-ownership interests in charge account receivables generated 
by the Sears Card and related assets. Charge account receivables generated by the Sears MasterCard are not included in the
securitization program.The trusts fund their purchase of co-ownership interests through the issuance of short- and long-term debt,
primarily commercial paper and senior and subordinated receivables-backed notes. Neither the trusts nor holders of notes issued 
by the trusts have any recourse to Sears retained co-ownership interest nor other assets of Sears other than amounts in the cash
reserve account and the interest-only strip receivable. Sears acts as the servicer of the charge account receivables, including those
subject to the co-ownership interests sold to the trusts.

Sears retains the right to revenue generated by the charge account receivables in excess of the amount of the trusts’ stipulated
share.Therefore any deterioration in the earnings generated by the charge account receivables is first borne by Sears and not the
trusts. In addition, any fluctuation in interest rates affecting floating-rate notes and commercial paper issued by the trusts impacts
Sears revenue from credit operations.

Under the securitization program, there is a daily distribution of collections from charge account receivables and a reinvestment 
of those amounts by the trusts to purchase additional charge account receivables in order to maintain existing outstanding debt
levels. Where additional funding is required by Sears, additional sales of co-ownership interests are initiated and additional
receivables-backed notes are issued. In some cases, Sears provides additional credit support to the receivables-backed notes 
by contributing from time to time to a cash reserve account a proportional amount of the new debt issued and making certain
subordinated loans.The Company has also indirectly funded the purchase of trust units issued by SCRT-1992 and SCRT-1996.
See the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more information.

The following table summarizes the cash flows between the Company and the trusts:

(in millions, as at year end) 2003 2002 2001
Proceeds from new transfers1 $ 400.2 $ 128.0 $ 1,183.8
Proceeds from collections and reinvestment1 3,148.5 3,326.6 3,014.8
1 A portion of the collections and all new transfers since July 1, 2001 are subject to Accounting Guideline 12.  

See the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more information.
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The chart below outlines the trusts’ securitized obligations.

(in millions, as at year end) 2003 2002 2001

Senior debt
5.34%, due December 16, 2003 $ – $ 150.0 $ 150.0 
8.95%, due June 1, 2004 175.0 175.0 175.0 
5.42%, due December 15, 2004 200.0 200.0 200.0 
6.681%, due June 15, 2005 250.0 250.0 250.0 
Floating rate, due June 30, 2006 8.0 56.8 243.0 
5.035% due November 15, 2006 260.0 260.0 260.0 

Total senior debt $ 893.0 $ 1,091.8 $ 1,278.0 

Subordinated debt
9.18%, due June 1, 2004 $ 3.9 $ 3.9 $ 3.9 
Floating rate, due 2001 to 2005 68.1 74.7 74.7 
Floating rate, due June 30, 2006 0.1 0.6 2.5 
6.235%, due November 15, 2006 16.6 16.6 16.6 

Total subordinated debt $ 88.7 $ 95.8 $ 97.7 

Total debt $ 981.7 $ 1,187.6 $ 1,375.7 
Commercial paper 407.3 201.1 393.1 
Trust units (floating rate, due 2004 to 2006) 29.8 34.8 34.8 
Accrued liabilities 0.2 – 0.6 
Total Securitized Obligations $ 1,419.0 $ 1,423.5 $ 1,804.2 

Commercial paper obligations were higher at January 3, 2004 because commercial paper was used as interim financing to pay 
the $150 million of long-term receivables-backed debt that matured on December 16, 2003. On February 20, 2004, SCORE Trust
issued $352.5 million of 4.949% senior notes and $22.5 million of 5.629% subordinated notes under the shelf prospectus filed 
on February 11, 2004 that qualified the issuance of up to $3 billion in notes over the next two years.The outstanding receivables-
backed long-term debt maturing on June 1, 2004 and December 15, 2004 will likely be refinanced through the issue of new
receivables-backed debt in 2004 by SCORE Trust.The Company has not identified any reasonably foreseeable circumstances that
would trigger any additional funding requirement, early payment or acceleration provisions in the debt portfolio of the trusts.
Other sources of funding for the Company are discussed in the “Capital Resources” section of this MD&A.
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Credit ratings for the securitized senior debt issues and commercial paper are AAA and R-1 (high) respectively.These are the highest
ratings assigned for these debt categories. Commercial paper is rated by Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited (“DBRS”), and
senior debt is rated by DBRS and, depending on the trust, either Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

Foreign Exchange Contracts – The Company’s forecast for its total requirement of U.S. currency in 2004 is approximately 
U.S. $500 million. As at January 3, 2004, there were U.S. $142 million of foreign exchange contracts outstanding (US$152 million
at December 28, 2002).To mitigate the risk of currency fluctuation Sears hedges approximately 90% of expected purchases at 
the time of placement, which is usually six months in advance.

Funding Costs

The funding costs for both Company and off-balance sheet borrowings are outlined in the table below.

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Interest costs

Total debt at end of year $ 770.4 $ 776.4 $ 812.8 
Average debt for year 775.8 808.2 771.0 
Interest expense 59.5 59.8 64.2 
Average rate of debt 7.5% 7.4% 8.3%

Securitization costs
Amount securitized at end of year $ 1,419.0 $ 1,423.5 $ 1,804.2 
Average amount securitized for year 1,413.7 1,504.4 1,805.8 
Cost of funding 81.6 81.4 101.9 
Average rate of securitized funding 5.7% 5.4% 5.6%

Total funding
Total funding at end of year $ 2,189.4 $ 2,199.9 $ 2,617.0 
Average funding for year 2,189.5 2,312.6 2,576.8 
Total funding costs for period 141.1 141.2 166.1 
Average rate of total funding 6.3% 6.1% 6.4%

DBRS and S&P have maintained their ratings for Sears senior unsecured debt throughout 2003 at BBB (High) and 
BBB respectively.
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The fixed-to-floating funding ratio, including securitized funding, is 59/41 (2002 – 76/24).The floating interest rate funding is at
higher levels than usual, primarily due to the inclusion of $391.3 million in securitized funding (18% of total funding) due in the
next year. Fixed rate debt maturing in the next 12 months is considered floating rate funding for the purposes of this calculation.
Increased securitized commercial paper obligations, used as interim financing until SCORE Trust issues long-term debt, have also
had an impact on the fixed-to-floating funding ratio.

Based on its current credit ratings and its past experiences in the capital markets, Sears anticipates no difficulty in obtaining 
long-term financing.

Related Party Transactions

Sears, Roebuck and Co. (“Sears Roebuck”) is the beneficial holder of the majority of the outstanding common shares of 
Sears Canada Inc., holding approximately 54% of the common shares of the Company.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company utilizes Sears Roebuck’s international merchandise purchasing services. In
addition, the Company and Sears Roebuck from time to time share information technology services, and the Company provides 
call centre services to Sears Roebuck. A reimbursement agreement exists between the Company and Sears Roebuck, primarily 
in respect to customer cross-border purchases made on the Sears Card and the Sears Roebuck charge card.

Transactions between the Company and Sears Roebuck are recorded at fair market value. More information on these transactions
is provided in Note 17 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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Normal Course Issuer Bid 

The Company intends to finalize a normal course issuer bid (the”Normal Course Issuer Bid”) with respect to the purchase 
for cancellation up to 5% of its issued and outstanding common shares, representing approximately 5.3 million of the 
issued and outstanding common shares. Under the Normal Course Issuer Bid, the purchases would be eligible to commence 
on March 4, 2004 and must terminate by March 3, 2005 pursuant to the Notice of Intention to be filed with the Toronto 
Stock Exchange.The price that the Company will pay for any such common shares will be the open market price at the 
time of acquisition.

The Company anticipates entering into an agreement with Sears Roebuck pursuant to which Sears Roebuck may elect to sell 
to the Company up to the number of common shares sufficient so that Sears Roebuck’s percentage interest in the Company 
does not increase as a result of the Company’s purchases pursuant to the Normal Course Issuer Bid.The price for such common
share purchases from Sears Roebuck will be the weighted average price at which the Company bought back shares during the 
relevant quarter.

By purchasing common shares under the Normal Course Issuer Bid, the Company intends to offset the dilutive effect of common
shares issued as equity-based compensation to employees and directors.The Company may purchase additional common shares up
to the maximum stated if, in the opinion of management, the additional purchases can be made on terms that enhance the value 
of the remaining common shares.

The Company did not purchase any common shares for cancellation under its 2003/2004 Normal Course Issuer Bid. Shareholders
may obtain a copy of the Notice of Intention, once it has been filed with the Toronto Stock Exchange, without charge, by
contacting the Secretary of the Company.
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Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to estimate the effect of various matters that are inherently
uncertain as of the date of the financial statements. Each of these required estimates varies in regard to the level of judgement
involved and its potential impact on the Company’s reported financial results. Estimates are deemed critical when a different
estimate could have reasonably been used or where changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur from period to period,
and would materially impact the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition or results of operations.The
Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”; critical
estimates inherent in these accounting policies are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts – The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect management’s best
estimate of losses inherent in its portfolio of credit card receivables as of the balance sheet date.This allowance is established
through a charge to the provision and represents amounts of current and past due charge account receivables balances (principal,
finance charge and credit card fee balances) which management estimates will not be collected.The Company calculates the
allowance for doubtful accounts using a model that considers the current condition of the portfolio and factors such as bankruptcy
filings, historical charge-off patterns, and other portfolio data.The Company’s calculation is then reviewed by management to
assess whether, based on economic events, additional analyses are required to appropriately estimate losses inherent in the
portfolio. Management believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to cover anticipated losses in the reported
credit card receivable portfolio under current conditions; however, significant deterioration in any of the above-noted factors, or 
in the overall health of the economy, could materially change these expectations.

Inventory Valuation – The Company records a provision to reflect management’s best estimate of the net realizable value,
including a normal profit margin of its inventory.The provision is calculated using a model that considers variances between
normal profit margins and actual profit margins across the various inventory categories and calculates the provision based 
on the difference. In addition, a provision for shrinkage and obsolescence is calculated based on historical experience.
Management reviews the entire provision, to assess whether, based on economic conditions, it is adequate.
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Revenue Recognition – In-store revenues from merchandise sales and services are reported net of estimated future returns and
allowances, and are recognized when the related goods are shipped and all significant obligations of the Company have been
satisfied.The reserve for returns and allowances is calculated as a percentage of sales based on historical return percentages.
Commissions earned on sales made by licensed businesses are also included as a component of merchandise sales and services.

The Company direct markets merchandise through catalogues and on-line via websites. Revenue is recognized for these items 
when the merchandise is delivered to the customer.

Revenues from product installation and repair services are recognized as the services are provided. Additionally, the Company 
sells extended service contracts with terms of coverage between 12 and 60 months. Revenues from the sale of these contracts 
are deferred and amortized over the lives of the contracts while the service costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company recognizes finance charges and fee income on credit card receivables according to the contractual provisions of 
the credit agreements and these revenues are recorded until an account is charged off, at which time uncollected finance charges
and fee revenues are recorded as bad debt expense.

Vendor Allowances – The Company receives allowances from its vendors through a variety of programs and arrangements,
including co-operative advertising and markdown reimbursement programs. Given the promotional nature of the Company’s
business, the allowances are generally intended to offset the Company’s costs of promoting, advertising and selling the vendors’
products in its stores. Vendor allowances are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold or related selling expense when the
purpose for which the vendor funds were intended to be used has been fulfilled. Co-operative advertising allowances are reported
as a reduction of advertising expense in the period in which the advertising occurred. Markdown reimbursements are credited to
cost of goods sold during the period in which the related promotional markdown was taken.

Self-insurance Reserves – The Company purchases third-party insurance for automobile, product and general liability claims 
that exceed a certain dollar level. However, the Company is responsible for the payment of claims under these insured limits.
In estimating the obligation associated with incurred losses, the Company utilizes loss development factors validated by an
independent third party.These development factors utilize historical data to project the future development of incurred losses.
Loss estimates are adjusted based upon actual claims settlements and reported claims.
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Defined benefit retirement plans – The plan obligations and related assets of defined benefit retirement plans are presented in
Note 8 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.” Plan assets, which consist primarily of marketable equity and 
debt instruments, are valued using market quotations.The variability of the estimate is discussed in more detail in the “Risks 
& Uncertainties” section of this MD&A.

The Company has made certain other estimates that, while not involving the same degree of judgment, are important to
understanding the Company’s financial statements.These estimates are in the areas of assessing recoverability of long-lived 
assets (including intangible assets), and in establishing reserves in connection with restructuring initiatives and other unusual
items. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments in these areas based on its substantial 
historical experience and other relevant factors. Management’s estimates as of the date of the financial statements reflect 
its best judgment giving consideration to all currently available facts and circumstances. As such, these estimates may require
adjustment in the future, as additional facts become known or as circumstances change.

Accounting Standards Implemented in 2003
During 2003, Sears adopted several new accounting pronouncements from the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(“the CICA”) that have an impact on the Company’s financial results.These new standards are discussed in the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements”, and the highlights of the impact of the new pronouncements are as follows:

Stock-based Compensation – Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, the most recent
recommendations issued by the CICA relating to Section 3870 “Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments”.
In accordance with the new standard, awards of shares granted after December 29, 2002 are measured on grant date using a fair
value based method and expensed over the vesting period.The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options that
allow for settlement in cash at the optionee’s discretion (a Stock Appreciation Right). A change in the intrinsic value of the 
Stock Appreciation Right between the grant date and the reported period end will result in a change in the compensation cost
recognized. Any consideration paid on exercise of stock options or purchase of shares is credited to capital stock.

In accordance with the new standard, the Company recorded a compensation expense in 2003 of $0.1 million relating to stock
options and $0.7 million relating to share grants issued under the Company’s various stock based compensation plans.
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Business Combinations – Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, the new recommendations
of the CICA relating to Section 1581 “Business Combinations”. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard,
the unamortized deferred credit of $54.2 million related to the excess of the fair value of acquired net assets over cost arising
from the acquisition of the T. Eaton Company Limited in 2000 was credited to opening retained earnings.

Disclosure of Guarantees – Sears implemented Accounting Guideline 14 “Disclosure of Guarantees”, issued by the CICA, which
expands previously issued accounting guidance and requires additional disclosure by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial
statements for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2003.This disclosure can be found in Note 15 of the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements”.This accounting standard does not affect the accounting for such items and hence, there has
been no impact on current or prior financial results.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
The following accounting standards that affect Sears were issued in 2003:

Hedging Relationships – During 2003, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline 13 “Hedging Relationships”, which deals with the
identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges and also the discontinuance of hedge accounting, but does
not specify hedge accounting methods.This guidance is applicable to hedge relationships in effect in fiscal years beginning on or
after July 1, 2003.

Asset Retirement Obligations – During 2003, the CICA issued Section 3110 “Asset Retirement Obligations”.This new standard
focuses on the recognition and measurement of liabilities for obligations associated with the retirement of property, plant and
equipment when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the assets.
The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2004.
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Impairment of Long-lived Assets – During 2003, the CICA issued Section 3063 “Impairment of Long-lived Assets”, which 
is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2003.This section provides guidance on recognizing, measuring 
and disclosing the impairment of long-lived assets. It replaces the write-down provisions in Section 3061 “Property, Plant 
and Equipment”.

The Company is evaluating the impact of adopting these new standards and guidance, and therefore has not yet assessed 
the effect, if any, on future Consolidated Financial Statements.

Future Accounting Standards 
The Company monitors the standard setting process for new standards issued by the CICA that the Company may be required 
to adopt in the future. Since the impact of a proposed standard may change during the review period, the Company does not
comment publicly until the standard has been finalized and the effects have been determined.

Variable Interest Entities – The CICA continues to review Accounting Guideline 15 “Variable Interest Entities”. A variable
interest entity is defined as any type of legal entity that is not economically controlled by traditional voting equity, but rather 
by contractual or other financial arrangements. It is expected that the standard will require consolidation by the party with the
majority of risks and/or rewards of a variable interest entity, with a greater emphasis placed on risks.The final standard, when
approved, is expected to be applicable for periods beginning after November 1, 2004. Disclosure of variable interest entities,
previously expected to be required for annual and interim periods beginning on or after January 1, 2004, is currently suspended
awaiting approval of revisions to the standard.The new rules are not intended to restrict the use of variable interest entities,
but to improve the financial reporting of them. Certain financing and related transactions undertaken by the Company are with
entities which may meet the definition of variable interest entities and those entities currently are not included in the Company’s
consolidated financial results. Sears is reviewing the effect this standard will have on its financial statements, and cannot
reasonably estimate the effect until final approval of the standard.
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Risks & Uncertainties

Sears is exposed to a number of risks in the normal course of its business that have the potential to affect operating performance.
Exposure to certain risks is an integral part of carrying on business, and Sears management attempts to mitigate these risks
wherever possible.

Economic Environment – There are a number of external factors which affect economic variables and consumer confidence 
over which the Company exerts no influence, including economic cycles, interest rates, personal debt levels, unemployment rates,
and levels of personal disposable income. Sears endeavors to stay abreast of emerging lifestyle and consumer preferences, and
recognizes that failure to identify and respond to these trends could have a material effect on the business.

Competitive Environment – The Canadian retail market remains highly competitive.The Company’s competitors include traditional
Canadian department stores, discount department stores, “big box” retailers, internet retailers, and specialty stores that offer
alternative retail formats to traditional department stores. In addition, U.S. and other international retailers continue to expand
into Canada. Failure to develop and implement competitive strategies could have a material effect on Company performance.

External Events – Weather conditions as well as events such as political or social unrest, natural disasters, disease outbreaks,
or acts of terrorism could have a material adverse effect on Company performance. Moreover, if such events were to occur at
particular times in the Company’s business cycle, the impact of these events on operating performance could be significantly
greater than it would otherwise have been.

Supplier and Brand Reputations – Sears promotes many brands as part of the normal course of business as a diverse, multi-
channel retailer, including both its own company brand, the brands of its private label product lines, and non-proprietary brands.
Damage to the reputation of these brands, or the reputation of the suppliers of these brands could negatively impact consumer
opinion of Sears or the related products, which could have an adverse effect on Company performance.

Credit Business – The credit card industry is highly competitive and operates in a legal and regulatory environment increasingly
focused on the cost of services charged for credit cards, as well as the protection of customer privacy.There is an increased use 
of advertising, target marketing, pricing competition, and incentive programs introduced by other credit card issuers seeking to
expand or enter the market. New laws, amendments to existing laws, or court decisions may be issued to regulate further the credit
card industry or to reduce finance charges or other fees or charges applicable to credit card accounts. In addition, certain credit
card issuers assess periodic finance charges or other fees or charges at rates lower than the rate currently being charged 
by the Company.
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Concentration of Credit Risk – The Company’s exposure to credit risk relates mainly to customer charge account receivables.
Sears credit customers are a large and diverse group. As a result, Sears does not have a concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rates – Through its securitization programs, the Company has financed purchases of undivided co-ownership interests 
in the portfolio of charge account receivables with the issuance of short-term commercial paper, long-term debt, and trust units,
some of which are subject to floating interest rates. Rising interest rates could adversely affect the Company’s funding costs.

Foreign Exchange – The Company’s foreign exchange risk is limited to currency fluctuations between the Canadian and U.S.
dollar.The Company uses forward contracts to fix the exchange rate on a portion of its expected requirement for U.S. dollars.

Investment Risk – It is the Company’s policy to identify and manage currency and interest rate risk through the use of investment
products. Counterparty credit risk is considered to be negligible as the Company restricts the counterparties with which it deals to
highly rated financial institutions.The Company also ensures that there is no undue concentration with any single counterparty.

Third Party Service Providers – Sears outsources various activities to third party service providers, particularly for the Company’s
credit operations.

Insurance – The Company reduces its exposure to risk through a combination of self-insurance and the purchase of 
insurance policies.

Leases – 17 of Sears 122 full-line stores are Company-owned, and one of the 47 Sears Home stores is Company-owned, with the
balance held under long-term leases.The long-term nature of the leases limits the Company’s ability to respond in a timely manner
to changes in the demographic or retail environment at any location.

Operating Covenants – Sears has given continuous operating covenants for 99 full-line stores and one Sears Home store. An
operating covenant generally requires Sears, during normal operating hours, to continuously operate a full-line store typical 
of other Sears full-line stores operated in the same province. One Sears Home store has an operating covenant requiring it to
continuously operate a typical Sears Home store. As at January 3, 2004, the remaining term of the various operating covenants
range from less than one year to 29 years, with the average remaining term being approximately ten years.
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Environmental Matters – As an owner and lessor of property, Sears is subject to various Canadian federal and provincial laws
relating to environmental matters. Such laws provide that the owner or lessor could be liable for the costs of removal and
remediation of certain hazardous toxic substances on its properties or disposed of at other locations.The failure to remove or
remediate such substances, if any, could lead to claims against the Company. Sears believes its risks are limited in this regard.

In the normal course of the business of operating gas bars in various locations throughout Canada, the Company has become
aware of specific locations, including adjacent properties, some or all of which will require environmental remediation.The
complete extent of such liabilities is not yet determined, but Sears continues to monitor the cost of remediation and appropriately
provide for this cost in its reserves.The Company has discontinued the operation of gas bars, with the exception of two locations.

Eaton’s Tax Losses – In the event that utilization of the tax losses of The T. Eaton Company Limited, which the Company acquired
on December 30, 1999, is disallowed, tax reductions claimed in prior periods will become payable.These amounts, and any related
amounts remaining in the future income tax assets, will be recorded as a tax expense in the then current year.

Legal Proceedings – Two separate class actions have been filed against the Company pursuant to Quebec law. In one action, the
petitioner seeks to represent all holders of the Sears Card who have paid interest on a balance owing since July 1, 1997.That
action alleges that the interest rate charged by the Company on unpaid monthly balances of users of the Sears Card is contrary 
to Quebec law. Sears has agreed with the petitioner’s counsel to hold this matter in abeyance, without prejudice to the petitioner’s
interest, pending the outcome of a similar class action case involving another credit card issuer.The Company believes these
allegations are without merit. In the other action, the petition alleges that the Company, along with other credit card issuers who
are also named as defendants, have not given their credit cardholders the required 21 day grace period to pay off their obligations
without attracting credit charges in accordance with Quebec law. While it is not possible at this time to determine the merits of 
the petitioner’s claim in this matter, Sears believes, based on its understanding of the legal issues underlying the petition, that it 
has valid defences against the petitioner’s assertions. In each matter, the actions have not yet been certified by the Courts, as
required for all class actions.

On July 10, 2003, a Claim was filed in Ontario against the Company alleging breach of contract in relation to the termination 
by the Company of its relationship with a supplier company with respect to catalogue inserts. While it is not possible at this time
to fully determine the merits of the claim in this matter, Sears believes it has valid defences against the claim.
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The outcomes of the above Quebec and Ontario legal proceedings are indeterminable and the monetary damages, if any, cannot 
be reliably estimated.Therefore the Company has not made a provision for any potential liability.

In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of business.
Sears is of the view that although the outcome of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, the final disposition is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Future Benefit Plans – There is no assurance that the Company’s future benefit plans will be able to earn the assumed rate of
return. New regulations and market driven changes may result in changes in the discount rates and other variables which would
result in the Company being required to make contributions in the future that differ significantly from the estimates. Management
is required to use assumptions to account for the plans in conformity with GAAP. However, actual future experience will differ 
from these assumptions giving rise to actuarial gains or losses. In any year, actual experience differing from the assumptions may
be material.The relevant accounting standard contemplates such differences and allows these actuarial gains or losses to be
recognized over the expected average service life of the employee group covered.

Plan assets, which consist primarily of marketable equity and debt instruments, are valued using market quotations.The value of
these investments will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Plan obligations and annual pension expense are determined by
independent actuaries and through the use of a number of assumptions. Key assumptions in measuring the benefit obligations and
pension plan costs include the discount rate, the rate of salary increase, and the expected return on plan assets.The discount 
rate is based on the yield of high-quality, fixed-income investments, at the year end date, with maturities corresponding to the
anticipated timing of future benefit payments.The salary increase assumption is based upon historical experience and anticipated
future management actions.The expected return on plan assets reflects the investment strategy and asset allocations of the
invested assets. Please refer to the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more information on the weighted-
average actuarial assumptions for the plans.

 



STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sears Canada Inc. and all information in this Annual Report are 
the responsibility of management.The consolidated financial statements and the information contained in the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis have been approved by the Board of Directors.The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and include certain amounts that are based 
on estimates and judgments. Financial information used elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that contained 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for the accuracy, integrity, and objectivity of the financial statements and has developed, maintains,
and supports an extensive program of internal controls and audits that provide reasonable assurance that financial records 
are reliable and that assets are safeguarded.

The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the financial statements in this Annual Report principally through 
the activities of its Audit Committee, all of whom are outside Directors. In monitoring the fulfillment by management of its
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control, the Audit Committee meets periodically with senior officers, finance
management, and internal and external auditors to discuss audit activities, internal accounting controls, and financial reporting
matters.The Audit Committee has reviewed these consolidated financial statements and has recommended their approval by 
the Board of Directors.

The Company’s external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have conducted audits of the financial records of the Company 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.Their report is as follows.

Chairman of the Board and Executive Vice-President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SEARS CANADA INC.

We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Sears Canada Inc. as at January 3, 2004 and 
December 28, 2002 and the consolidated statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash flows for the 53 weeks and 
the 52 weeks then ended.These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.Those standards require 
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the 53 weeks and the 52 weeks then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Deloitte & Touche LLP Toronto, Ontario
Chartered Accountants February 9, 2004
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(in millions) As at January 3,2004 As at December 28,2002

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and short-term investments $ 82.6 $ 142.8
Accounts receivable (Notes 2 and 3) 1,249.1 1,322.5
Income taxes recoverable 11.8 4.1
Inventories 801.3 754.0
Prepaid expenses and other assets 110.6 109.4
Current portion of future income tax assets (Note 4) 149.7 183.1

2,405.1 2,515.9

Investments and other assets (Note 5) 76.8 59.7
Capital assets (Note 6) 1,042.8 1,036.9
Long term deferred receivables 229.9 61.7
Deferred charges (Note 7) 293.6 309.3
Future income tax assets (Note 4) 17.5 77.8

$ 4,065.7 $ 4,061.3

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 728.2 $ 799.0
Accrued liabilities 486.4 517.3
Income and other taxes payable 95.9 99.1
Principal payments on long-term obligations due within one year (Note 9) 7.3 6.2
Current portion of deferred credit (Note 4) – 30.0

1,317.8 1,451.6

Long-term obligations (Note 9) 763.1 770.2
Deferred credit – 24.2
Accrued benefit liability (Note 8) 173.9 168.4

2,254.8 2,414.4

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 10) 458.8 458.1
Retained earnings 1,352.1 1,188.8

1,810.9 1,646.9
$ 4,065.7 $ 4,061.3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the 53 and 52 week periods ended January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003) and December 28, 2002, respectively
(in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002
Total Revenues $ 6,222.7 $ 6,535.9
Cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses 5,775.9 6,107.9
Depreciation and amortization 146.6 148.7
Interest expense, net 59.5 59.8
Unusual items – expense (Note 12) 5.0 189.1
Earnings before income taxes 235.7 30.4
Income taxes (Note 4)

Current 7.5 49.3
Future 93.5 (71.1)

101.0 (21.8)
Net earnings $ 134.7 $ 52.2
Earnings per share (Note 19) $ 1.26 $ 0.49
Diluted earnings per share (Note 19) $ 1.26 $ 0.49

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
For the 53 and 52 week periods ended January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003) and December 28, 2002, respectively
(in millions) 2003 2002
Opening Balance $ 1,188.8 $ 1,162.2
Adoption of new accounting policy for Business Combinations (Note 1) 54.2 –
Net earnings 134.7 52.2
Dividends declared (25.6) (25.6)
Closing Balance $ 1,352.1 $ 1,188.8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the 53 and 52 week periods ended January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003) and December 28, 2002, respectively
(in millions) 2003 2002
Cash Flow Generated From (Used for) Operations
Net earnings $ 134.7 $ 52.2 
Non-cash items included in net earnings, principally depreciation, amortization, 

future income taxes, and write down of capital assets 269.9 259.2 
Changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations (Note 13) (110.4) 174.6 

294.2 486.0 
Cash Flow Generated From (Used for) Investment Activities
Purchases of capital assets (196.2) (183.6)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 15.1 11.5
Charge account receivables (123.1) (492.1)
Deferred charges (0.9) –
Investments and other assets (17.1) 21.8

(322.2) (642.4)
Cash Flow Generated From (Used for) Financing Activities
Repayment of long-term obligations (6.7) (4.9)
Net proceeds from issue of capital stock 0.1 0.4
Dividends paid (25.6) (25.6)

(32.2) (30.1)
Decrease in cash and short-term investments (60.2) (186.5)
Cash and short-term investments at beginning of year 142.8 329.3
Cash and short-term investments at end of year $ 82.6 $ 142.8
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Sears Canada Inc. and its subsidiaries together with its
proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of real estate joint ventures (the “Company”).

Fiscal Year
The fiscal year of the Company consists of a 52 or 53 week period ending on the Saturday closest to December 31.The fiscal
years for the consolidated financial statements presented for 2003 and 2002 are the 53 week period ended January 3, 2004 
and the 52 week period ended December 28, 2002, respectively.

Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Short Term Investments
Cash and short term investments include all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date 
of purchase.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value less normal profit margin. Cost is determined using 
the average cost method, based on individual items.

Prepaid Advertising Expense
Catalogue production costs are deferred and amortized over the life of each catalogue on the basis of the estimated sales 
from that catalogue.
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Transfer of Receivables
Effective July 1, 2001, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, Accounting Guideline – 12 Transfers of Receivables,
issued by The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“the CICA”). For balances transferred prior to July 1, 2001,
and subsequent transfers committed to before that date, the Company continues to follow the previous accounting guidance.
For balances transferred after July 1, 2001, the Company recognizes gains or losses on transfers of receivables that qualify 
as sales and recognizes certain financial components that are created as a result of such sales, which consist primarily of the
retained interest in the form of a cash reserve account and the retained rights to future excess yield from the transferred
receivables (interest-only strip). A gain or loss on sale of the receivables depends in part on the previous carrying amount of the
receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based on their relative fair value 
at the date of transfer. Retained interests are initially recorded at fair value, which is estimated based upon the present value 
of the expected future cash flows and discount rates. Any subsequent decline in the value of the retained interest, other than a
temporary decline, will be recorded as a reduction to income.

Deferred Receivables
Deferred receivables represent credit sales not yet billed to customers’ accounts. Service charges are not accrued on these 
accounts over the deferral period which generally ranges from 6 to 24 months.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization provisions are generally computed by the straight-line method
based on estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years for equipment and fixtures, and of 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements.

The Company’s proportionate share of buildings held in joint ventures is generally depreciated by the sinking fund method over 
20 to 40 years.

The Company capitalizes interest charges for major construction projects and depreciates these charges over the life of the 
related assets.

 



2003 ANNUAL REPORT 65

Associate Future Benefits
The Company maintains a defined benefit, final average pension plan which covers substantially all of its regular full-time
associates as well as some of its part-time associates.The plan provides pensions based on length of service and final average
earnings.The Company provides life insurance, medical and dental benefits to eligible retired associates.The Company has 
adopted the following accounting policies:

• The cost of pensions and other retirement benefits earned by associates is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation,
retirement ages of associates and expected health care costs.

• For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at market value.

• Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period 
of associates active at the date of amendment.

• The excess of the net actuarial gain (loss) over 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan
assets is amortized over the average remaining service period of active associates.The average remaining service period of 
the active associates covered by the pension plan is eight years.The average remaining service period of the active associates
covered by the other retirement benefits plan is 13 years.

Deferred Charges
The cumulative excess of contributions to the Company’s pension plan over the amounts expensed is included in deferred charges.

Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized by the straight-line method to the due dates of the respective debt issues.
Securitization set up costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over a maximum of five years.

Other costs are deferred and amortized by the straight-line method over the remaining life of the related asset.
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Foreign Currency Translation
Obligations payable in U.S. dollars are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date or at the rates fixed 
by forward exchange contracts.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate in effect on the date of the transaction.

Earnings per Share
Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.The diluted earnings
per share calculation increases the number of shares used in the calculation, determined using the treasury stock method.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from merchandise sales and services are net of estimated returns and allowances, exclude sales taxes and are recorded
upon delivery to the customer. Revenues relating to the travel business and licensed department businesses are recorded in revenues
net of cost of sales.

Finance charge revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, including unbilled finance charges based on actual finance charges 
on the most recent billing cycles.

Joint venture revenues are recorded based on monthly rentals.

The Company sells extended service contracts with terms of coverage generally between 12 and 60 months. Revenues from 
the sale of these contracts are deferred and amortized in proportion to the anticipated expenses.
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Changes in Accounting Policies
a) Stock-based Compensation

Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, the most recent recommendations issued by 
the CICA relating to Stock-based Compensation And Other Stock-based Payments. In accordance with the new standard,
awards of shares granted after December 29, 2002 are measured on grant date using a fair value based method and expensed
over the vesting period.The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options that allow for settlement in cash at 
the optionee’s discretion (a Stock Appreciation Right). A change in the intrinsic value of the Stock Appreciation Right between
the grant date and the reported period end will result in a change in the compensation cost recognized. Any consideration paid
on exercise of stock options or purchase of shares is credited to share capital.

b) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, the new recommendations issued by the CICA
relating to Goodwill And Other Intangible Assets. Under the new standard, the Company does not amortize goodwill, and
recognized intangible assets are amortized over their useful life to the Company, unless the life is determined to be indefinite.
When an intangible asset is determined to have an indefinite life, it is not amortized until its life is considered to be no longer
indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets are subject to annual impairment tests.

c) Business Combinations
Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, the new recommendations issued by the CICA 
for Business Combinations. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard, on December 29, 2002, the
unamortized deferred credit of $54.2 million related to the excess of the fair value of acquired net assets over cost arising 
from the acquisition of Eaton’s was credited to retained earnings.

d) Guarantees
The Company has adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 14 (AcG-14) “Disclosure of Guarantees”, which expands previously
issued accounting guidance and requires additional disclosure by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements 
for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2003.
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In the normal course of business, the Company enters into numerous agreements that may contain features that meet the AcG-14
definition of a guarantee. AcG-14 defines a guarantee to be a contract (including an indemnity) that contingently requires the
Company to make payments to the guaranteed party based on (i) changes in an underlying interest rate, foreign exchange rate,
equity or commodity instrument, index or other variable, that is related to an asset, a liability or an equity security of the
counterparty, (ii) failure of another party to perform under an obligating agreement or (iii) failure of a third party to pay its
indebtedness when due.

Comparative Figures
Certain of last year’s figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

2. Accounts Receivable

(in millions) 2003 2002
Customer account receivables – current $ 2,101.4 $ 1,882.4
Customer account receivables – deferred 765.3 870.6 
Managed accounts 2,866.7 2,753.0 
Less: co-ownership interest held by third parties (Note 3) (1,419.0) (1,423.5)
Co-ownership retained by the Company 1,447.7 1,329.5 
Less: long term portion of deferred charge account receivables (229.9) (61.7)
Interest-only strip receivable (Note 3) 26.3 20.6 
Miscellaneous receivables 5.0 34.1 
Total $ 1,249.1 $ 1,322.5 

The total credit losses for the year on managed accounts, net of recoveries, were $102.8 million (2002 – $77.5 million).
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3. Transfer of Receivables

Securitization is an important financial vehicle which provides the Company with access to funds at a low cost.The Company 
sells undivided co-ownership interests in its portfolio of current and deferred charge account receivables to three separate trusts
and retains the right to receive the income generated by the undivided co-ownership interests sold to the trusts in excess of the
trusts’ stipulated share of service charge revenues.The Company does not control the trusts and, therefore, these financial
statements do not include the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the trusts.The trusts have financed the purchase 
of the co-ownership interests primarily through the issuance of debt to independent third party investors totalling $1,419.0 million
(2002 – $1,423.5 million).

The undivided co-ownership interest is sold on a fully serviced basis and the Company receives no fee for ongoing servicing
responsibilities.The Company receives proceeds equal to fair value for the assets sold and retained rights to future cash flows
arising after the investors in the securitization trusts have received the return for which they contracted.The co-owners have 
no recourse to the Company’s retained interest in the receivables sold other than in respect of amounts in the cash reserve 
account (Note 5) and the interest-only strip receivable.The co-owners have no recourse to the Company’s other assets.

During the year ended January 3, 2004, the Company recognized a pre-tax reduction in revenue of $0.7 million (2002 – 
$21.1 million), related to the timing of recognition of income on the sale of charge account receivables. As at January 3, 2004,
the interest-only strip was recorded at $26.3 million (2002 – $20.6 million).The following table shows the key economic
assumptions used in measuring the interest-only strip and securitization gains.The table also displays the sensitivity of the 
current fair value of residual cash flows to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in yield, payment rate, net charge-off 
rate and discount rate assumptions.

Effects of Adverse Changes

(in millions) Assumptions 10% 20%
Yield (annual rate) 24.51% $ 4.3 $ 8.5
Principal payment rate (monthly) 24.56% 3.3 6.0
Net charge-off rate (annual rate) 5.30% 0.9 1.7
Discount rate (annual rate) 12.00% – –
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The table below summarizes certain cash flows related to the transfer of receivables which have been accounted for under the
provisions of Accounting Guideline – 12:

(in millions) 2003 2002
Proceeds from new transfers $ 400.2 $ 128.0 
Proceeds from collections 867.7 756.2 
Other cash flows relating to retained interests 8.7 (10.4)

4. Future Income Taxes

The tax effects of the significant components of temporary differences giving rise to the Company’s net income tax assets are 
as follows:

2003 2002
(in millions) Current Long-Term Current Long-Term
Items not deducted for tax purposes $ 102.3 $ – $ 118.2 $ –
Amounts related to tax losses carried forward 59.1 0.2 77.0 70.8 
Depreciable capital assets – 52.6 – 46.7
Gain on securitization (11.7) – (12.1) –
Deductible deferred charges – (35.3) – (38.0)
Other – – – (1.7)
Total $ 149.7 $ 17.5 $ 183.1 $ 77.8

The average combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate, excluding Large Corporations Tax, applicable to the
Company was 36.2% for 2003 (2002 – 39.5%).
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A reconciliation of income taxes at the average statutory tax rate to the actual income taxes is as follows:

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Earnings before income taxes $ 235.7 $ 30.4 
Income taxes at average statutory tax rate 85.3 12.0 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Non-taxable portion of capital gains – (0.9)
Non-deductible items 1.5 1.2 

Large Corporations Tax 5.2 4.9 
$ 92.0 $ 17.2 

Effective tax rate before the following adjustments 39.0% 56.6%

Future income tax asset revaluation 6.4 (18.8)
Tax adjustment on sale of joint venture 2.6 –
Recognition of deferred credit – (21.5)
Other adjustments – 1.3 

Income taxes $ 101.0 $ (21.8)
Effective tax rate 42.9% (71.7%)

Income taxes for 2003 include a provision of $2.6 million relating to disputed deductions in calculating the capital gain on sale 
of the Company’s interest in a joint venture.

Income taxes for fiscal 2002 included a recovery of $30.1 million resulting from a change in timing of expected utilization of 
tax losses and finalization of previously estimated losses acquired on acquisition of Eaton’s.

Originally, future income tax assets acquired as part of the Eaton’s acquisition were valued at $310.0 million, which exceeded 
the total acquisition cost by $130.0 million.This amount was recorded as a deferred credit and recognized proportionately as 
a reduction to income taxes as the future income tax asset was drawn down. In 2002, the income tax recovery was increased by
the recognition of a deferred credit in the amount of $21.5 million. Effective December 29, 2002, the Company adopted the 
new accounting standard for Business Combinations. As a result of this implementation, the unamortized balance of the deferred
credit of $54.2 million was credited to Retained Earnings.

The Company’s total cash payments for income taxes in 2003 were $15.1 million (2002 – $67.8 million).
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5. Investments and Other Assets

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Unsecured debentures $ 41.8 $ 34.6 
Subordinated loans 1.8 4.9 
Short term investments 4.3 –
Retained interest in transferred receivables – cash reserve account 28.9 20.2 
Total $ 76.8 $ 59.7 

Unsecured debentures, which represent investments made by the Company in the independent trusts referred to in Note 18, in the
amounts of $14.2 million, $1.0 million, $3.0 million, $11.5 million and $12.1 million, are due in 2010, 2011, 2013, 2014 and
2015, respectively. Subordinated loans, which represent loans to two of the independent trusts, are due in 2006. All bear interest
at floating rates.

6. Capital Assets

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Land $ 73.8 $ 68.1 
Buildings and improvements 964.1 846.5 
– held by joint ventures 180.2 178.6 
Equipment and fixtures 1,169.3 1,189.5 
Gross capital assets 2,387.4 2,282.7 
Accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements 469.4 389.7 
– held by joint ventures 45.3 41.9 
Equipment and fixtures 829.9 814.2 
Total accumulated depreciation 1,344.6 1,245.8 
Capital assets $ 1,042.8 $ 1,036.9 
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The carrying values of land and buildings are evaluated by management on an ongoing basis as to their net recoverable amounts.
This is a function of their average remaining useful lives, market valuations, cash flows and capitalization rate models. Situations
giving rise to a shortfall in the net recoverable amounts are assessed as either temporary or permanent declines in the carrying
values; permanent declines are adjusted.

The above amounts include $21.8 million in 2003 (2002 – $21.8 million) of assets under capital lease, and accumulated amorti-
zation of $16.9 million in 2003 (2002 – $15.9 million) related thereto.

As at January 3, 2004, $17.0 million of capital assets were classified as “Held for Sale”.

7. Deferred Charges 

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Excess of contributions to associate future benefits over amounts expensed (Note 8) $ 264.5 $ 275.5 
Tenant allowances for proportionate interests in joint ventures 7.1 6.2 
Debt issuance and securitization set up costs 7.0 9.5 
Other deferred charges 15.0 18.1 
Total deferred charges $ 293.6 $ 309.3 

8. Associate Future Benefits

Information about the Company’s defined benefit plans as at January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, in aggregate, is as follows:
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2003 2002
Sears Registered Non Registered Other Benefit Sears Registered Non Registered Other Benefit

(in millions) Retirement Plan Pension Plan Plans Total Retirement Plan Pension Plan Plans Total
Plan Assets
Market value at beginning of year $ 1,182.7 $ – $ 72.3 $ 1,255.0 $ 1,321.5 $ – $ 80.0 $ 1,401.5
Actual return on plan assets 144.1 – 6.8 150.9 (100.7) – (5.0) (105.7)
Employer contributions – 2.0 14.7 16.7 – 1.8 10.6 12.4
Associate contributions 19.1 – – 19.1 18.5 – – 18.5
Benefits paid1 (65.4) (2.0) (13.7) (81.1) (56.6) (1.8) (13.3) (71.7)
Market value at end of year2 1,280.5 – 80.1 1,360.6 1,182.7 – 72.3 1,255.0
Plan Obligation
Accrued benefit obligation 

at beginning of year3 $ 1,053.4 $ 30.1 $ 240.3 $ 1,323.8 $ 1,014.5 $ 36.9 $ 217.6 $ 1,269.0 
Total current service cost 46.0 0.3 4.8 51.1 45.1 0.6 4.1 49.8 
Interest cost 65.8 1.7 18.0 85.5 64.7 1.9 15.2 81.8 
Benefits paid (65.4) (2.0) (13.7) (81.1) (56.6) (1.8) (13.3) (71.7)
Actuarial (gains) losses 77.5 4.4 46.1 128.0 (14.3) (7.5) 16.7 (5.1)
Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 1,177.3 34.5 295.5 1,507.3 1,053.4 30.1 240.3 1,323.8 
Plan Surplus (Deficit)
End of year market value 

less accrued benefit obligation $ 103.2 $ (34.5) $ (215.4) $ (146.7) $ 129.3 $ (30.1) $ (168.0) $ (68.8)
Unamortized net actuarial (gain) loss 161.3 2.7 73.3 237.3 146.2 (2.2) 31.9 175.9
Accrued benefit asset (liability) 264.5 (31.8) (142.1) 90.6 275.5 (32.3) (136.1) 107.1
Valuation allowance4 – – – – – – – –
Accrued benefit asset (liability), 

net of valuation allowance5 $ 264.5 $ (31.8) $ (142.1) $ 90.6 $ 275.5 $ (32.3) $ (136.1) $ 107.1
1 Benefits paid include amounts paid from funded assets. Other benefits are paid directly by the Company.
2 There are no plan assets invested in parties related to the plan.
3 Accrued benefit obligation represents the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to associate service rendered to a particular date.
4 The valuation allowance represents the amount of surplus not recognized on the Company’s statements of financial position.
5 The accrued benefit asset (liability), net of valuation allowance, represents the amount of the asset (liability) recognized on the Company’s statements of financial position.
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Benefit Plan Expense

2003 2002
Sears Registered Non-registered Other Sears Registered Non-registered Other

(in millions) Retirement Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans Retirement Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans
Company current service cost $ 26.8 $ 0.3 $ 4.8 $ 26.7 $ 0.6 $ 4.0 
Interest cost 65.8 1.6 18.0 64.7 1.9 15.2 
Expected return on plan assets (81.6) – (4.6) (92.2) – (5.3)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss – (0.4) 2.5 – – –
Net benefit plan expense $ 11.0 $ 1.5 $ 20.7 $ (0.8) $ 2.5 $ 13.9 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company’s accrued benefit obligations are as follows (weighted-
average assumptions as at year-end):

2003 2002
Sears Registered Non-registered Other Sears Registered Non-registered Other
Retirement Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans Retirement Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 6.25% 6.50% 6.50% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.5%+ merit 3.5%+ merit 3.5%+ merit 3.5%+ merit 3.5%+ merit 3.5%+ merit

The assumption used for the long-term rate of return on plan assets for the 2003 and 2002 pension expense is 7.0%.

For measurement purposes a 9.1% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed 
for 2003.The rate of increase was assumed to decrease gradually to 4.3% for 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.
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9. Long-Term Obligations

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Unsecured debentures:

6.55% due November 5, 2007 $ 125.0 $ 125.0 
Unsecured medium term notes:

7.45% due May 10, 2010 200.0 200.0 
7.05% due September 20, 2010 100.0 100.0 
6.75% due March 15, 2006 200.0 200.0 

Proportionate share of long-term debt of joint ventures with 
a weighted average interest rate of 9.4% due 2004 to 2016 134.8 140.0 

Capital lease obligations:
interest rates from 7% to 14% 10.6 11.4 

770.4 776.4 
Less principal payments due within one year included in current liabilties 7.3 6.2 
Total long-term obligations $ 763.1 $ 770.2 

The Company’s proportionate share of the long-term debt of joint ventures is secured by the shopping malls owned by the joint
ventures.The Company’s total principal payments due within one year include $5.6 million (2002 – $4.7 million) of the 
Company’s proportionate share of the current debt obligations of joint ventures.

Interest on long-term debt amounted to $61.4 million (2002 – $61.3 million).

The Company’s total cash payments for interest in 2003 were $56.0 million (2002 – $60.4 million).
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Principal Payments
For fiscal years subsequent to the fiscal year ended January 3, 2004, principal payments required on the Company’s total long-
term obligations are as follows:

(in millions)

2004 $ 7.3 
2005 21.4 
2006 208.0 
2007 141.7 
2008 7.0 
Subsequent years 385.0 
Total debt outstanding $ 770.4 

10. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable
and retractable Class 1 Preferred Shares in one or more series. As at January 3, 2004, the only shares outstanding were the
common shares of the Company. Changes in the number of outstanding common shares and their stated values are as follows:

2003 2002 
Number of Shares Stated Value (millions) Number of Shares Stated Value (millions)

Beginning balance 106,769,230 $ 458.1 106,733,618 $ 457.7 
Issued pursuant to Special Incentive Awards 21,670 – 6,666 –
Stock based compensation – 0.7 – –
Issued pursuant to stock options 7,564 – 28,946 0.4 
Ending balance 106,798,464 $ 458.8 106,769,230 $ 458.1 
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During 2003, the Company announced its intention to purchase for cancellation up to 5% of its issued and outstanding common
shares, representing up to 5,338,577 of the issued and outstanding common shares.The Company is eligible to make purchases 
for one year commencing March 3, 2003, pursuant to the Notice of Intention filed with the Toronto Stock Exchange. No shares
were purchased under this Normal Course Issuer bid as at January 3, 2004.

11. Stock Based Compensation

The Company has three stock-based compensation plans: (collectively, the “Plans”), the Employees Stock Plan, the Stock Option
Plan for Directors and the Directors’ Share Purchase Plan.The Employees Stock Plan provides for the granting of options and
Special Incentive shares and options. Special Incentive Awards of options and shares are awarded to Officers and/or certain
employees of the Company on a conditional basis, subject to achievement of specified performance criteria and/or specified vesting
periods.The Stock Option Plan for Directors, provides for the granting of stock options to Directors who are not employees of 
the Company or Sears, Roebuck and Co.

To be consistent with the Stock Option Plan for Directors, the Employees Stock Plan was amended in 1998 to permit the issuance
of tandem awards.Tandem awards provide optionees with stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) which allow optionees to choose 
to exercise SARs instead of the corresponding options. In such cases, the optionees receive cash payments equal to the amount by
which the market price of the shares on the date of exercise of the SARs exceeds the exercise price of the corresponding options.
All non Special Incentive options awarded under the Employees Stock Plan since 2002 and under the Stock Option Plan for
Directors since 2001 include tandem awards.

Under the Plans, the exercise price of options is determined using the weighted average price at which the Company’s shares traded
on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the five trading days preceding the grant date. Awards generally vest over three years, and are
exercisable within 10 years from grant date. Certain Special Incentive Shares and options have specified performance criteria.

For tandem awards that have vested, a liability is recorded equal to the difference between the exercise price and the share price
as at year end. Compensation expense of less than $0.1 million was recorded in the year ended January 3, 2004 related to tandem
awards and credited to accrued liabilities.
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Details of stock option transactions under the Plans are set out below.

Number of Shares
Employees Employees Stock Plan – Stock Option Plan Weighted Average 
Stock Plan6 Special Incentive Options For Directors Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 29, 2001 1,642,846 995,000 24,750 $ 24.86
Granted at $18.37 483,840 – – 18.37
Granted at $19.83 – – 9,000 19.83
Exercised (28,946) – – 12.75
Cancelled/forfeited – – (4,500) 29.17
Outstanding at December 28, 2002 2,097,740 995,000 29,250 23.95
Granted at $14.89 – – 9,000 14.89
Granted at $18.23 455,960 – – 18.23
Exercised (7,564) – – 9.06
Cancelled/forfeited – (582,500) – 27.00
Outstanding at January 3, 2004 2,546,136 412,500 38,250 $ 22.50

Exercisable as at January 3, 2004
– Number of shares 1,586,566 206,250 20,500
– Weighted average exercise price $ 23.02 $ 28.75 $ 26.95

6 excluding Special Incentive Options
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The following stock options were outstanding as at January 3, 2004:

Options Weighted Weighted Exerciseable Weighted
Exercise Outstanding Average Average Options Average

Plan Price (thousands) Remaining Life Exercise Price (thousands) Exercise Price 
Employees Stock Plan6 $ 5.58 100.2 2.1 $ 5.58 100.2 $ 5.58

10.65 119.5 3.1 10.65 119.5 10.65 
19.63 235.4 4.1 19.63 235.4 19.63 
24.73 9.0 4.3 24.73 9.0 24.73 
21.19 275.8 5.1 21.19 275.8 21.19 
40.68 324.7 6.1 40.68 324.7 40.68 
21.72 539.0 7.1 21.72 359.0 21.72 
21.51 3.0 7.2 21.51 2.0 21.51 
18.37 483.6 8.0 18.37 161.0 18.37 
18.23 456.0 9.0 18.23 – –

Employees Stock Plan – Special Incentive Options 28.75 412.5 4.5 28.75 206.2 28.75

Stock Option Plan For Directors 25.98 3.0 4.3 25.98 3.0 25.98 
29.96 4.5 5.3 29.96 4.5 29.96 
36.23 4.5 6.3 36.23 4.5 36.23 
21.32 8.3 7.5 21.32 5.5 21.32 
19.83 9.0 8.3 19.83 3.0 19.83 
14.89 9.0 9.3 14.89 – –

Total 2,997.0 1,813.3
6 excluding Special Incentive Options
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Awards of Special Incentive Shares are measured at fair value on grant date and expensed over the vesting period. A compen-
sation cost of $0.7 million was recognized as an expense and credited to share capital for the year ended January 3, 2004.
Details of the transactions under the Special Incentive Shares Plan are set out below:

Employees Stock Plan – Special Incentive Shares 2003 2002
Awarded and unearned at beginning of year 233,334 190,000
Awarded during the year 120,000 50,000
Issued during the year (21,670) (6,666)
Forfeited during the year (70,000) –
Awarded and unearned at end of year 261,664 233,334

12. Unusual Items

The Company recorded a pre-tax expense of $5.0 million in 2003 (2002 – $189.1 million) comprised of the following 
unusual items:

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Environmental reserve $ 5.0 $ –
Eatons conversion – 180.0
Sale of airplane – (3.6)
Call centre consolidation – 3.2
Sale of call centre – (6.3)
Retail restructuring – 13.7
Catalogue pre-press outsourcing – 2.1
Unusual items - expense $ 5.0 $ 189.1

In 2003, the Company increased its reserve for remediation of properties affected by the Company’s former gas bar operations 
by $5.0 million.
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During 2002, the Company recorded the following:

• A charge of $180.0 million, consisting of $30 million in cash for severance payments, third party commitments, and closing
costs, and a $150 million non-cash write down of fixtures and leasehold improvements for conversion of Eatons banner stores 
to Sears banner. An accrued liability of $12.6 million relating to costs anticipated as part of the initial acquisition was reversed.
An accrual for $12.6 million related to planned future conversion activities was recorded.

• A gain of $3.6 million on the sale of a corporate airplane.

• An expense of $3.2 million related to call centre consolidation.

• A gain on the sale of a call centre of $6.3 million.

• An expense of $13.7 million for restructuring of department store and automotive channels.

• An expense of $2.1 million relating to the outsourcing of the catalogue pre-press function.

13. Changes In Non-Cash Working Capital

Cash generated from (used for) non-cash working capital items, is comprised of the following:

(in millions) 2003 2002 
Miscellaneous receivables $ 29.1 $ (41.2)
Inventories (47.3) 110.5 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1.2) 13.9 
Accounts payable (70.8) 29.1 
Accrued liabilities (9.3) 95.2 
Income and other taxes payable (10.9) (32.9)
Cash (used for) generated from working capital $ (110.4) $ 174.6 
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14. Commitments and Contingencies

Minimum capital and operating lease payments, exclusive of property taxes, insurance and other expenses payable directly by 
the Company, having an initial term of more than one year as at January 3, 2004 are as follows:

(in millions) Capital Leases Operating Leases
2004 $ 2.7 $ 110.6 
2005 2.7 110.7 
2006 2.7 100.2 
2007 2.6 90.4 
2008 2.2 84.6 
Subsequent years 0.8 529.2 
Minimum lease payments 13.7 $ 1,025.7 
Less imputed weighted average interest of 10.0% 3.1 
Total capital lease obligations $ 10.6 

Total rentals charged to earnings under all operating leases for the year ended January 3, 2004 amounted to $114.5 million
(2002 – $123.7 million).

The Company has entered into a long-term service agreement with Total System Services, Inc. (“TSYS”) for the provision 
of credit processing services until 2010, at a minimum annual cost of $11 million per year.

Two separate class actions have been filed against the Company pursuant to Quebec law. In one action the petitioner seeks 
to represent all holders of the Sears Card who have paid interest on a balance owing since July 1, 1997.That action alleges 
that the interest rate charged by the Company on unpaid monthly balances of users of the Sears Card is contrary to Quebec 
law. Sears has agreed with the petitioner’s counsel to hold this matter in abeyance, without prejudice to the petitioner’s interest,
pending the outcome of a similar class action case involving another credit card issuer.The Company believes these allegations 
are without merit. In the other action, the petition alleges that the Company, along with other credit card issuers who are also
named as defendants, have not given their credit cardholders the required 21 day grace period to pay off their obligations 
without attracting credit charges in accordance with Quebec law. While it is not possible at this time to determine the merits 
of the petitioner’s claim in this matter, Sears believes, based on its understanding of the legal issues underlying the petition,
that it has valid defences against the petitioner’s assertions. In each matter, the actions have not yet been certified by the 
Courts, as required for all class actions.
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On July 10, 2003, a claim was filed in Ontario against the Company alleging breach of contract in relation to the termination 
by the Company of its relationship with a supplier with respect to catalogue inserts. While it is not possible at this time to fully
determine the merit of the claim in this matter, Sears believes it has valid defences against the claim.

The outcomes of the above Quebec and Ontario legal proceedings are indeterminable and the monetary damages, if any, cannot 
be reliably estimated.Therefore the Company has not made a provision for any potential liability.

In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of business.
Sears is of the view that although the outcome of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, the final disposition is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

15. Guarantees

The Company has provided the following significant guarantees to third parties:

Sub-lease agreements
The Company has entered into a number of agreements to sub-lease premises to third parties.The Company retains ultimate
responsibility to the landlord for payment of amounts under the lease agreements should the sub-lessee fail to pay.The total 
future lease payments under such agreements, included in Note 14 above, are $19.1 million.

Other indemnification agreements
In the ordinary course of business, the Company provides indemnification commitments to counterparties in transactions such 
as leasing transactions, royalty agreements, service arrangements, investment banking agreements, securitization agreements and
indemnification of trustees under indentures for outstanding public debt.These indemnification agreements require the Company 
to compensate the counterparties for costs incurred as a result of changes in laws and regulations or as a result of litigation 
claims or statutory claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by a counterparty as a consequence of the transaction.
The terms of these indemnification agreements will vary based on the contract and typically do not provide for any limit on the
maximum potential liability. Historically, the Company has not made any significant payments under such indemnifications and 
no amount has been accrued in the financial statements with respect to these indemnification commitments.
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16. Segmented Information

The Company has three reportable operating segments: merchandising, credit and real estate joint venture operations.

• The merchandising segment includes the Company’s department stores, catalogue operations, furniture and appliances stores,
dealer stores and outlet stores, as well as the products and services offered under the Sears HomeCentral banner and on its
website, sears.ca.

• The credit segment finances and manages customer charge account receivables generated from the sale of goods and services
charged on the Sears Card and Sears Mastercard.

• The real estate joint venture segment consists of the Company’s joint venture interests in shopping centres, most of which 
contain a Sears store.

The reportable segments reflect the basis on which management measures performance and makes decisions regarding the
allocation of resources.The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Accounting
Policies. During the preparation of the internal financial statements the revenues and expenses between segments are eliminated.
The Company evaluates the performance of each segment based on earnings before interest expense and income taxes, as well 
as capital employed.The Company does not allocate interest expense or income taxes to each segment.

Segmented Statements of Earnings for the 53 and 52 week periods ended January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002

2003 2002
Real Estate Real Estate

(in millions) Mdse. Credit Joint Ventures Total Mdse. Credit Joint Ventures Total
Operating revenue $ 5,818.2 $ 430.1 $ 56.7 $ 6,305.0 $ 6,176.5 $ 405.6 $ 56.3 $ 6,638.4
Securitization loss (0.7) (0.7) (21.1) (21.1)
Securitization costs (81.6) (81.6) (81.4) (81.4)
Total revenues7 $ 5,818.2 $ 347.8 $ 56.7 $ 6,222.7 $ 6,176.5 $ 303.1 $ 56.3 $ 6,535.9 
Segment operating profit $ 183.2 $ 87.5 $ 29.5 300.2 $ 218.5 $ 31.4 $ 29.4 279.3 
Interest expense, net 59.5 59.8 
Unusual items – expense 5.0 189.1 
Income taxes (recovery) 101.0 (21.8)
Net earnings $ 134.7 $ 52.2 
7 The real estate joint venture revenues are net of $3.0 million (2002 – $3.1 million) representing the elimination of rental revenues earned from Sears department stores. Rental expense of 

the real estate joint venture segment has been decreased by the same amount having no effect on overall segment operating profit.
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Segmented Statements of Financial Position as at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002

2003 2002
Real Estate Real Estate

(in millions) Mdse. Credit Joint Ventures Total Mdse. Credit Joint Ventures Total
Total assets $ 2,354.0 $ 1,533.9 $ 177.8 $ 4,065.7 $ 2,533.7 $ 1,348.2 $ 179.4 $ 4,061.3 
Capital employed 900.7 1,514.2 166.4 2,581.3 949.5 1,320.4 153.4 2,423.3 
Average capital employed 925.1 1,417.3 159.9 2,502.3 1,177.9 1,097.3 152.9 2,428.1 
Capital expenditures 194.4 – 1.8 196.2 180.4 – 3.2 183.6 
Depreciation and amortization 143.1 – 3.5 146.6 145.1 – 3.6 148.7 

In addition to the information above, the following amounts, with respect to joint ventures, are recorded in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements

(in millions) 2003 2002
Current assets $ 8.4 $ 9.1
Long term assets 169.5 170.3
Total liabilities excluding debt 11.4 26.0
Cash flow generated from (used for) – operations 6.3 9.0

– investing (1.8) (3.2)
– financing (5.2) (5.8)

17. Related Party Transactions

Sears, Roebuck and Co. is the beneficial holder of the majority of the outstanding common shares of Sears Canada Inc.,
holding approximately 54% of the common shares of the Company.

During the year, Sears, Roebuck and Co. charged the Company $15.9 million (2002 – $15.0 million) in the ordinary course 
of business for shared merchandise purchasing services, employee expenses and software support purchases.These amounts 
are included in the cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses.
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During 2003, the Company charged Sears, Roebuck and Co. $3.3 million (2002 – $0.2 million) for call centre services.
This amount is included in revenue.

The Company paid Sears, Roebuck and Co. $9.0 million (2002 – $9.1 million) and received from Sears, Roebuck and Co.
$2.4 million (2002 – $3.7 million) in respect of customer cross-border purchases made on the Sears Card, and the Sears,
Roebuck and Co. charge card.

These transactions were recorded at fair market value.

There were no significant commitments, receivables or payables between the companies at the end of 2003 or 2002.

18. Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into financial agreements with banks and other financial institutions 
to reduce underlying risks associated with interest rates and foreign currency.The Company does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes and controls are in place to prevent and detect these activities.The
financial instruments do not require the payment of premiums or cash margins prior to settlement.These financial instruments 
can be summarized as follows:

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company enters into foreign exchange contracts to reduce the foreign exchange risk with respect to U.S. dollar denominated
goods purchased for resale. At the end of 2003 there were US$142 million in contracts outstanding (2002 – US$152 million).

For the year ended January 3, 2004, the Company recorded a gain of $4.6 million (2002 – loss of $0.4 million) relating to the
translation or settlement of foreign denominated monetary items.

Securitization of Charge Account Receivables
Securitization is an important financial vehicle which provides the Company with access to funds at a low cost.The Company 
sells undivided co-ownership interests in its portfolio of current and deferred charge account receivables to independent trusts 
and retains the income generated by the undivided co-ownership interests sold to the trusts in excess of the trusts’ stipulated 
share of service charge revenues (refer to Notes 2 and 3).
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Interest Rate Risk
From time to time the Company enters into interest rate swap contracts with Schedule “I” Banks to manage exposure to interest
rate risks. Neither the notional principal amounts nor the current replacement value of these financial instruments are carried 
on the consolidated statements of financial position.

For the year ended January 3, 2004, a net interest differential of nil (2002 – $2.1 million) was paid on floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swap contracts and was recorded as an increase in interest expense of the Company. As at January 3, 2004 and
December 28, 2002, the Company had no interest rate swap contracts in place.

Credit Risk
The Company’s exposure to concentration of credit risk is limited. Accounts receivable are primarily from Sears Card customers,
a large and diverse group.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Position
Interest rate risk reflects the sensitivity of the Company’s financial condition to movements in interest rates.

The table below identifies the Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are sensitive to interest rate movements and those
which are non-interest rate sensitive. Financial assets and liabilities which do not bear interest or bear interest at fixed rates are
classified as non-interest rate sensitive.

2003 2002
Interest Non-Interest Interest Non-Interest

(in millions) Sensitive Sensitive Total Sensitive Sensitive Total
Cash and short-term investments $ 82.6 $ – $ 82.6 $ 142.8 $ – $ 142.8
Investments and other assets 76.8 – 76.8 59.7 – 59.7 
Accounts receivable (including long-term deferred accounts receivable)8 26.3 1,452.7 1,479.0 20.6 1,363.6 1,384.2 
Long-term obligations (including current portion) – (770.4) (770.4) – (776.4) (776.4)
Net balance sheet interest rate sensitivity position $ 185.7 $ 682.3 $ 868.0 $ 223.1 $ 587.2 $ 810.3 
8 Interest sensitive portion relates to the interest-only-strip receivable described in Note 3 – Transfer of receivables

In addition to the net balance sheet interest rate sensitivity position, the Company is also affected by interest rate sensitive debt
outstanding in the independent securitization trusts, where transfers are not subject to Accounting Guideline-12 (see Note 1,
Summary of Accounting Policies). Any change in short-term interest rates will impact floating rate debt and debt with maturities
of less than one year held by the trusts, which totaled $892.1 million at January 3, 2004; $518.0 million at December 28, 2002.
An increase in the cost of this off-balance sheet debt will result in a decrease in the Company’s share of service charge revenues.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair values of financial instruments as at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 are based on relevant market
prices and information available at that time. As a significant number of the Company’s assets and liabilities, including inventory
and capital assets, do not meet the definition of financial instruments, the fair value estimates below do not reflect the fair value 
of the Company as a whole.

Carrying value approximates fair value for financial instruments which are short-term in nature.These include cash and short-term
investments, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, income and other taxes
payable, and principal payments on long-term obligations due within one year. For financial instruments which are long-term in
nature, fair value estimates are as follows:

2003 2002
Carrying or Carrying or

(in millions) Notional Amount Fair Value Notional Amount Fair Value
Financial Assets and Liabilities
Investment and other assets $ 76.8 $ 76.8 $ 59.7 $ 59.7
Long-term obligations $ 763.1 $ 816.0 $ 770.2 $ 801.8

Off-balance sheet financial instruments
2003 2002

Carrying or Fair Value Carrying or Fair Value
(in millions) Notional Amount Premium/(Discount) Notional Amount Premium/(Discount)
Forward exchange contracts $ 183.0 $ (17.7) $ 238.6 $ 0.3

The fair value of investments and other assets and long-term obligations was estimated based on quoted market prices, when
available, or discounted cash flows using discount rates based on market interest rates and the Company’s credit rating.
As long-term debt coupon rates are higher than current market interest rates, the fair value of the Company’s long-term debt
exceeds its carrying value.
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19. Earnings Per Share 

A reconciliation of the number of shares used in the earnings per share calculations is as follows:

Number of shares 2003 2002
Average number of shares per basic earnings per share calculation 106,790,629 106,753,000
Effect of dilutive options outstanding 276,231 247,322
Average number of shares per diluted earnings per share calculations 107,066,860 107,000,322

20. Subsequent Event

In January 2004, the Company sold its investment in one of its joint ventures.The transaction, which is expected to yield a gain,
net of tax, of approximately $12 million, will be recorded as an unusual item in the first quarter of 2004.

INTEREST COVERAGE EXHIBIT

The Company’s earnings before long-term interest and income taxes for the 53 week period ended January 3, 2004 
were $297.1 million, which is 4.8 times the Company’s long-term interest requirement of $61.4 million for this period.
Interest coverage on long-term debt is equal to net earnings before interest expense on long-term debt and income taxes,
divided by annual interest requirements on long-term debt.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors and management are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
The Board believes that strong corporate governance practices are essential to the success of the Company, to effective 
corporate performance and to the best interests of shareholders.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of the Company, acting with a view to the 
best interests of the Company and providing guidance and direction to the management of the Company in order to attain
corporate objectives and maximize shareholder value. These stewardship functions are carried out directly by the Board 
and through its Committees.

The Board of Directors meets five times each year with additional meetings held as required.The Directors schedule meetings 
in camera (without management present) after each Board and Committee meeting. In 2003, there were six meetings of 
the Board, five meetings of the Audit Committee, four meetings of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee 
(“HR and Compensation Committee”), five meetings of the Investment Committee and seven meetings of the Nominating 
and Corporate Governance Committee (“Governance Committee”). Attendance of the Directors at these meetings averaged
approximately 98%.

The Audit, HR and Compensation and Governance Committees of the Board are each responsible for certain corporate 
governance functions in accordance with their respective charters.The Governance Committee, however, has been assigned 
the responsibility for monitoring emerging trends and guiding the Company in its approach and practices in matters of 
corporate governance. It acts as the “Lead Director” for the Company and also oversees, on behalf of the Board, the 
methods and processes for evaluating Board effectiveness and performance.This Committee is satisfied that the Company 
is in conformance with the recommended practices of the Toronto Stock Exchange and other regulatory authorities.

The Directors are elected annually by the shareholders.The Board is currently composed of ten Directors.The Company’s
significant shareholder, Sears, Roebuck and Co., beneficially holds approximately 54% of the common shares of the Company.
Three Directors are executive officers of Sears, Roebuck and Co., six Directors (or 60% of the total number of Directors) 
are independent of the Company and its affiliates (“Independent Directors”) and one Director is related, being the 
Chief Executive Officer. The Board’s composition fairly reflects the investment in the Company by minority shareholders 
and the independence of the Board from management.

 



The Company has developed a manual which summarizes the corporate governance policies and practices of the Company.
It outlines, among other things, the composition and operation of the Board, as well as the Committees of the Board and the 
manner in which they are assessed.The Company is dedicated to continuing its proactive approach to corporate governance
practices, while nurturing, enhancing and evolving its strong corporate governance culture. Copies of the manual are available 
upon request, as well as on the Company’s website at sears.ca.

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct (“Code”) which applies to every Director, Officer and associate.
The Code provides guidelines and sets out expectations regarding interactions with customers, investors, governmental 
authorities, suppliers of merchandise and services, and fellow associates. It also sets out the ethical values and standards 
of behaviour that apply to all of the Company’s business activities including such matters as fair dealing, conduct in the 
workplace, conflicts of interest, corporate property and records and compliance with the laws of all jurisdictions within 
which the Company conducts business.

The Company has also adopted a corporate Disclosure, Confidentiality and Insider Trading Policy (“Policy”) which reflects 
its commitment to providing timely and accurate corporate information to the capital markets, including its shareholders, and 
to the general public.The Policy provides direction and guidance to its Directors, Officers and employees regarding confidentiality
and disclosure of Company information and insider trading obligations.The Policy requires prompt general disclosure of any
material information. It also sets out the procedures to be followed in communicating with investors, analysts and the media,
including press conferences and media debriefings via webcast.

A more detailed description of corporate governance practices is contained in the Management Proxy Circular of the 
Company dated March 1, 2004.The Directors of the Company, their principal occupations and Committee appointments 
are listed on page 93 of this Report.
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Board of Directors

Jalynn H. Bennett, C.M. un5
President, Jalynn H. Bennett and Associates Ltd.

Mark A. Cohen  l
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation

Alan J. Lacy  n
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief 
Executive Officer, Sears, Roebuck and Co.

Greg A. Lee
Senior Vice President, Human Resources,
Sears, Roebuck and Co.

Brian F. MacNeill  un
Chairman of the Board, Petro-Canada

Mary Mogford  un5l
Corporate Director

James W. Moir, Jr. u5l
Corporate Director

Glenn R. Richter  u
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
Sears, Roebuck and Co.

C. Wesley M. Scott 5l
Corporate Director

Carol M. Stephenson  ln

 

Dean, Richard Ivey School of Business,
The University of Western Ontario

Committees

u Audit Committee
n Human Resources and Compensation Committee
5 Investment Committee
l Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 

Honorary Director

C. Richard Sharpe, C.M.
Former Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, Sears Canada Inc.

Officers

Mark A. Cohen 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Richard A. Brown 
Senior Vice-President, Strategic Initiatives

John T. Butcher  
Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

G. Bruce Clark 
Senior Vice-President, Financial Services

Barbara L. Duffy 
Senior Vice-President, Human Resources

Brent Hollister  
President and Chief Operating Officer

Frank Rocchetti  
Senior Vice-President, Merchandising

John D. Smith
Senior Vice-President and Chief Information Officer

Rudolph R. Vezér 
Senior Vice-President, Secretary,
General Counsel and Corporate Communications
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Head Office

Sears Canada Inc.
222 Jarvis Street
Toronto, Ontario
M5B 2B8

Website: www.sears.ca 
E-mail: home@sears.ca

For more information about the Company, or for 
additional copies of the Annual Report, write to 
the Corporate Communications Department at the 
Head Office of Sears Canada Inc., or call 416-941-4425.

Stock Exchange Listing

Toronto Stock Exchange
Trading symbol: SCC

Transfer Agent and Registrar

CIBC Mellon Trust Company
Toronto, Ontario
Montreal, Quebec

Answerline: 416-643-5500
1-800-387-0825

Website: www.cibcmellon.com 
E-mail: inquiries@cibcmellon.com 

Annual and Special Meeting

The Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders 
of Sears Canada Inc. will be held on 
Monday, April 26, 2004 at 10:00 a.m. in the 
Burton-Wood Auditorium
Main Floor, 222 Jarvis Street
Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Édition française du Rapport annuel

On peut se procurer l’édition française de ce rapport 
en écrivant au:

Service national de communication
Sears Canada Inc.
222 Jarvis Street
Toronto, Ontario
M5B 2B8

Pour de plus amples renseignements au sujet de 
la Société, veuillez écrire au Service national de
communication, ou composer le 416-941-4425.

Produced by Sears Canada Inc. Corporate Communications
Design by Haughton Brazeau Design
Printed in Canada by Kempenfelt Graphics Group

Certain brands mentioned in this report are the trademarks 
of Sears Canada Inc., Sears, Roebuck and Co., or used 
under license. Others are the property of their respective owners.
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